
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE l 7TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 12-034123 (07) 

P & S ASSOCIATES GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP, etc. et al., 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et al. 

Defendants. 

DEFENDANTS' REPLY TO PLAINTIFFS' RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS' JOINT 
MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS AND FOR SUMMARY 

JUDGMENT AS TO FRAUDULENT TRANSFER 

Defendants, Frank Avellino and Michael Bienes (collectively, the "Defendants"), by and 

through their undersigned counsel, file this Reply to Plaintiffs' Response to Defendants' Joint 

Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and for Summary Judgment ("MSJ'') as to Fraudulent 

Transfer (Count IV). 

Judgment on the Pleadings 

In their response, although Plaintiffs argue that a judgment on the pleadings should not be 

entered because they have standing to pursue the fraudulent transfer claims, Plaintiffs have not 

even addressed the argument that they failed to properly plead a fraudulent transfer cause of 

action, and thus, a judgment on the pleadings should be entered. 1 

1 Plaintiffs also argue that this and other issues have been decided by the Court in prior orders. However, an order 
which merely grants or denies a motion does not resolve the issue conclusively and a trial judge has the right and 
authority to change the ruling at any time before a final judgment is entered. Garcia v. M & T Mortgage 
Corporation, 980 So.2d 538 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008). In addition, "[t]here is no prohibition on the presentation of 
successive motions for summary judgment." Florida Dept. ofTransp. v. Juliano, 801 So. 2d 101, 109 (Fla. 2001). 
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In order to state a claim for fraudulent transfer Plaintiffs must plead and prove: (I) there 

was a creditor to be defrauded; (2) a debtor intending fraud; and (3) a conveyance of the debtor's 

property which could have been applicable to the payment of the debt due. Nationsbank, NA. v. 

Coastal Utilities Inc., 814 So.2d 1227, 1229 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). 

In Count IV of the SAC, Plaintiffs alleged that the creditors who were defrauded are the 

partners of the Partnerships, that the partners were defrauded by the Fraudulent Transfers at a 

time the Partnerships had no profits (i.e. the Partnerships are the debtors), and that the assets 

transferred were composed of funds that originated from the capital contributions of the partners 

(paragraphs 80, 82 and 83). (Although Plaintiffs define "Fraudulent Transfers" as the monies 

paid to Avellino, Bienes and Jacob (paragraph 79), the Fraudulent Transfers could only mean the 

management fees paid to Michael Sullivan, because Plaintiffs allege in paragraph 86 that 

Avellino and Bienes are subsequent transferees, and that the monies they received were as 

subsequent transferees (paragraph 87)). Clearly since the individual partners are not parties to 

the action, and Plaintiffs cannot bring claims on behalf of the individual partners, as they are 

direct claims2
, Defendants are entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. 

Plaintiffs fare no better with the remaining paragraphs in Count IV, in which they allege 

the Partnerships are the creditors of Sullivan, Michael D. Sullivan & Assoc., and Sullivan & 

Powell/Solutions in Tax, who made the Fraudulent Transfers to Avellino and Bienes, with an 

actual intent to hinder, delay and defraud the Partnerships (paragraphs 88, 89, 90, 91, 92).3 

Plaintiffs argue that these allegations as pled demonstrate as a matter of law that both the 

Partnerships and Conservator have standing to pursue the fraudulent transfer claims and cite to 

Sallah v. Worldwide Clearing LLC, 860 F.Supp.2d 1329 (S.D. Fla. 2011) and Freeman v. Dean 

2 See Strazzulla v. Riverside Banking Company, 175 So.3d 879 (Fla. 4th DCA 2015). 
3 Although Florida Rules of Civil Procedure allow alternative relief and theories to be pled, there is no authority for 
alternative facts and theories to be pled in the same count as Plaintiffs have done here. 
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Witter Reynolds, Inc., 865 So.2d 543 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). However, neither of these cases is 

applicable to Plaintiffs. 

In Sallah, a receiver was appointed for a corporation, which corporation had been used by 

the principals as an illegal Ponzi scheme. The receiver brought a fraudulent transfer action 

against the investors who had allegedly received payments in excess of their individual 

investments. The defendants challenged the receiver's standing to bring the action. The court 

stated that the receiver can bring actions previously owned by the party in receivership for the 

benefit of the creditors, but cannot pursue claims directly owned by the creditors. However, the 

court explained that a receiver of a corporation which has been used for an illegal Ponzi scheme 

can bring a fraudulent transfer claim because: 

After a corporation, which was used by its principals to defraud 
investors, has been 'cleansed' through receivership the corporation 
has viable claims 'against the principals or the recipients of 
fraudulent transfers of corporate funds to recover assets rightfully 
belonging to the corporation and taken prior to the receivership. In 
other words, after a corporation has been placed into receivership, 
it becomes a creditor with respect to assets which were 
fraudulently transferred away. In this scenario, the principals, who 
were operating the illegal scheme, are the debtors of the 
corporation for their fraudulent activities. 

Sallah, 860 F.Supp.2d at 1334-1335. 

In addition, according to the court, when a corporation has been used as a Ponzi scheme 

and then put in receivership, the receiver can accurately be referred to as a creditor of assets 

which were fraudulently transferred by principals engaged in wrongdoing, and the principals 

would be the debtors with respect to the assets allegedly fraudulently transferred away as part of 

the Ponzi scheme. Sallah, 860 F. Supp. 2d at 1335. Finally, when a receiver is brought in to 

cleanse a corporation used in a Ponzi scheme, the doctrine of in pari delitco does not apply to the 

receiver, and the receiver may bring claims directly against the principals or the recipients of the 
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fraudulent transfers of corporate funds. See also Wiand v. Morgan, 919 F.Supp.2d 1342, 1366 

(M.D. Fla. 2013) (when a Ponzi scheme's perpetrator diverts money that investors intended to 

invest with a receivership entity, the entity is harmed, even if the entity is controlled by the 

scheme's perpetrator and used exclusively to perpetrate the scheme). 

Freeman also involved a receiver appointed for a corporation which had been used by its 

principals as a Ponzi scheme. However, in that case, the receiver brought an action against third 

parties, seeking to make them liable for the economic losses the corporation suffered as a result 

of the Ponzi scheme, based on business connections the third parties had with the corporation or 

its principals that should make those third parties liable. The court recognized that the receiver 

could have a claim against the principals or the recipients of the fraudulent transfers of the 

corporate funds, but held that the receiver could not bring common law claims against third 

parties to recover damages in the name of the corporation for the fraud perpetrated by the 

corporation's insiders. According to the court, a corporation which is being used as a Ponzi 

scheme cannot say it was damaged by the Ponzi scheme; those damages are suffered by the 

individual customers. 

However, in this case the Partnerships were not Ponzi schemes run by Sullivan or Powell, 

the principals of the Partnerships. There are no allegations that Sullivan or Powell used the 

Partnerships as a Ponzi scheme, and thus, the cleansing analysis set forth in Sallah and Freeman 

is not applicable. The Conservator does not become the creditor, nor do the principals become 

the debtors of the corporation for their fraudulent activities. Instead, the Conservator stands in 
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the shoes of the Partnerships, which cannot bring a claim for fraudulent transfer against Sullivan 

or Avellino and Bienes.4 

In addition, there were no assets of the Partnerships fraudulently transferred by Sullivan. 

In the instant case, the Partnerships paid management fees to Sullivan. Sullivan, in tum, paid 

third parties, such as Avellino and Bienes, referral fees. The Partnerships have alleged that 

Sullivan should not have been paid some or all of these management fees based on a breach of 

fiduciary duty claim. However, unlike the facts in Sallah and Freeman, it cannot be presumed 

that the monies paid to Sullivan, and then, to the third parties, were fraudulently transferred 

assets of the Partnerships. 5 If Sullivan did not breach his fiduciary duty and was entitled to these 

management fees, the assets are not the Partnerships, and there can be no fraudulent transfer 

claim as a matter oflaw.6 

Based on the foregoing, Plaintiffs have failed to plead a viable fraudulent transfer cause 

of action and Defendants are entitled to a judgment as a matter of law on this cause of action. 

Motion for Summary Judgment 

While Plaintiffs' Response paraphrases record evidence which they contend creates 

issues of fact, the evidence itself does not constitute such issues of fact. As set forth below, the 

4 The Partnerships are barred by the doctrine of in pari delitco from bringing a fraudulent transfer claim against the 
Defendants, because they participated in the alleged improper activities and cannot recover damages resulting from 
the wrongdoing. In re Phoenix Diversified Inv. Corp., 439 B.R. 231, 242 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. 2010) (applying Florida 
law) (citing 0 'Halloran v. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 969 So.2d 1039, 1045 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). 
5 If, as Plaintiffs pled, the assets transferred belonged to the Partnerships, judgment must be entered as a matter of 
law because "FUFTA was expressly promulgated to permit a creditor to recapture assets of the debtor . .. " - not of 
the creditor. In re Burton Wiand Receivership Cases Pending in the Tampa Div. of Middle Dist. of Fla., 8:05-CV-
1856T27MSS, 2008 WL 818509, at *7 (M.D. Fla. Jan. 28, 2008), report and recommendation adopted in part, 
rejected in part sub nom. In re Burton Wiand Receivership Cases Pending in the Tampa Div. of the Middle Dist. of 
Fla., 8:05-CV-1856T27MSS, 2008 WL 818504 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 26, 2008). 
6 Additionally, the initial alleged fraudulent transfer in this scenario would be from the Partnerships to Sullivan, and 
it is undisputed that the Partnerships' books and records reflected the management fees paid to Sullivan, and that the 
Partnership Agreements contemplated such payments, so the statute of limitations for fraudulent transfers to 
Sullivan expired long ago. 
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"evidence" is either inadmissible hearsay or conclusions, or does not actually constitute evidence 

of the fact which it is supposed to establish. 7 

I. Statute of Limitations 

The determinative issue governing whether or not the Plaintiffs timely brought this action 

is when they knew or should have known of the transfers to Avellino and Bienes which they 

contend are fraudulent. This issue largely turns on what documents were contained within the 

records of the Partnerships. In attempting to create an issue of fact, Plaintiffs have totally 

ignored their own sworn evidence of what documents contained information relating to the 

payment of management fees to Avellino and Bienes: 

The books and records of P & S [ and S & P] indicate that Bienes 
received a Kickback (as defined in the operative complaint in this 
action) in relation to those general partners' investments with P & S. 

Exhibit 1, pgs. 3, 8. 8 

Every year the partnerships' management fee Ledger contained 
information concerning fees which were accrued or paid to Avellino 
or Bienes. 

Exhibit 2, interrogatory 8. (emphasis added). 

Documents[supporting the allegation that Bienes received 
kickbacks] include bank statements and printouts from a 
software program which the partnerships utilized. 

Exhibit 3, pg. 10. (emphasis added). 

documents in this grouping [supporting the allegation that the defendants 
had received millions of dollars in kickbacks] include the Partnerships' 
spreadsheets and checks. 

7 Defendants request the Court to refer to the Record itself and to disregard or strike arguments which are not 
supported by admissible evidence, which pervade the entire Response and are too numerous to identify specifically. 
8Each party has filed more than one statement of material facts and has filed supporting documents at several 
different times. Rather than refer to the documents by the various statements of facts and dates of filing, Defendants 
have consolidated the portions of each document referenced herein, have designated them sequentially as exhibits, 
and are filing them for ease of reference. All documents so referenced have otherwise been designated in a 
Statement of Material Facts and already filed. 
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Exhibit 3, if5, pgs. 8 (emphasis added) . 

... we identified that funds were being earmarked or paid to Avellino and 
Bienes from the P & S Quarterly Management Fee Calculations ... 

Composite Exhibit 4, pg. 5, fn 7. Mukamal's reports of November 11, 2013 and March 31, 

2016, furthermore, both identify 18 documents relied upon, at least 13 of which are financial 

documents of the Partnerships. Exhibit 4. 

Plaintiffs' Response does not address this evidence at all. Instead, in an attempt to 

distract this Court from the fact that, on multiple occasions, they have submitted sworn proof that 

the Partnerships' records contained evidence of the payments to Avellino and Bienes, they refer 

to affidavits which don't offer actual evidence to the contrary (and which, if they did, would 

have to be stricken)9. None of the affidavits address the documents mentioned above or deny 

that the specific information within their interrogatory answers was, in fact, within the 

Partnerships records. Rather, their "evidence" consists of the following: 

• The affidavit of Von Kahle, which consists almost entirely of inadmissible 

hearsay and unsubstantiated conclusions made without personal knowledge, states only that he 

didn't receive "complete" records or know the "exact" amount of damages. Exhibit 5, ifif 3, 4, 5, 

6. This testimony is totally irrelevant because complete knowledge of the exact amount of 

damages is not necessary to begin the running of the statute of limitations. Hynd v. Ireland, 5 82 

So. 2d 772, 773 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Breitz v. Lykes-Pasco Packing Co., 561 So. 2d 1204 (Fla. 

2d DCA 1990). 

9 It is axiomatic that a "party who opposes summary judgment will not be permitted to alter the position of his or her 
previous pleadings, admissions, affidavits, depositions or testimony in order to defeat a summary judgment". Inman 
vs. Club on Sailboat Key, Inc., 342 So.2d 1069, 1070 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977). See, also, Elison v. Goodman, 395 So. 
2d 1201, 1202 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981, which affrrmed a summary judgment "notwithstanding the filing of an affidavit 
in opposition to the summary judgment in which Mr. Elison directly contradicted his deposition testimony 
concerning the date of discovery, so as to bring it within the limitations period." 
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• Margaret Smith's Declaration verified only that the transfers were not reflected in 

the Partnerships' "banking records," which would not be expected to contain the names of 

recipients of funds. Furthermore, Plaintiffs' entire case is premised upon the fact that payments 

went from the Partnerships to Sullivan or Michael D. Sullivan & Associates ("MDS"; 

collectively "Sullivan") then to Avellino and Bienes, so the banking records of the Partnerships 

would not reveal payments directly to them, or to any other individual by name. Exhibit 6, if3. 

• Smith's statements that the payments "could only be verified" through Sullivan's 

records is similarly meaningless because it does not say that references to payments were not 

contained within the Partnerships' records - just that they could not be "verified" through those 

records. This is perfectly consistent with the admitted fact that the payments were not made 

directly by the Partnerships to Avellino and Bienes, but were made directly by Sullivan to 

Avellino and Bienes. Exhibit 6, if3. 

• Mukamal's affidavit - also improperly based upon hearsay - indicated only that 

the records "did not reveal" that Avellino and Bienes "had received" payments "from the 

Partnerships," but that testimony is also insignificant as Avellino and Bienes were never paid 

directly "from the Partnerships." Exhibit 7, if6. Although the Partnerships' records do reflect 

that payments were made to Avellino and Bienes, the records do not reflect that those payments 

were paid directly "from the Partnerships." 

Therefore, there is no question of fact as to whether the Partnerships' records contained 

information about the payments which were made to Avellino and Bienes. Plaintiffs' prior 

sworn evidence proves it. Their subsequent attempts, through the affidavits, do not directly 

contradict this evidence and, if the affidavits did directly contradict their previous sworn 

testimony, the affidavits would have to be stricken. It is ironic that the Plaintiffs are now 
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disavowing the truth of their own sworn evidence, and are relying upon Sullivan's deposition 

testimony to prove the falsity of their own testimony. Sullivan's equivocating testimony, 

however, does not negate Plaintiffs' definitive admissions; while Sullivan testified during his 

deposition that evidence of the payments would not be within the Partnerships' records, he also 

testified that he wasn't sure whether the records would have been among those of the 

Partnerships or of MDS, or whether the records of MDS were made available. Exhibit 8, pgs. 

29-30. Plaintiffs were positive that the evidence was within the Partnerships' records; Sullivan 

was uncertain whether it was there or not; his uncertainty does not create a question of fact 

which could overcome Plaintiffs' certainty. 

Since the evidence was undeniably within the Partnerships' records, the only other issue 

is whether the Partnerships are charged with the knowledge of the contents of their own records. 

As a matter of law, they are so charged. See, e.g., Brooks Tropicals, Inc. v. Acosta, 959 So. 2d 

288 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007), which held that, "the question of whether this plaintiff should have 

discovered the basis for a cause of action for fraud was one of law to be determined by the court: 

Id. at 296. 

It is too well-settled to require the citation of authorities that one 
who has either actual or constructive information and notice 
sufficient to put him on inquiry is bound, for his own protection, to 
make that inquiry which such information or notice appears to 
direct should be made, and, if he disregards that information or 
notice which is sufficient to put him on inquiry and fails to inquire 
and to learn that which he might reasonably be expected to learn 
upon making such inquiry, then he must suffer the consequence of 
his neglect. 

Though unnecessary, testimony corroborating the Plaintiffs' admissions, and further 

evidencing the availability of the documents and, hence, the constructive knowledge of the 

Partnerships, include the Affidavit of Jacob, in which he swore that: 
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• He regularly reviewed the books of the Partnerships which, at all times were in 

the offices of the Partnerships and available for review and inspection by him and all other 

partners of the Partnerships, and which were actually observed by Jacob. Exhibit 9 ifif4, 8; 

• The books of the Partnerships reflected in several places the payments Sullivan 

made of a portion of his management fees to others, including the payments to Avellino and 

Bienes. These records were maintained both electronically on the Partnerships' computers and 

in hard copy. Exhibit 9 ifif6, 8; 

Sullivan similarly confirmed Plaintiffs' admissions by indicating that Jacob's affidavit 

was accurate and that records of the Partnerships were available to all partners at all times. 

Exhibit 10, if2; Exhibit 11. 

Plaintiffs' argument that the knowledge of individual partners cannot be imputed to the 

Partnerships not only ignores the definitive statute imputing such knowledge, 620. 8102 ( 6), Fla. 

Stat., 10 but defies logic. The Partnerships can only have knowledge through their individual 

partners; there is simply no other way for a general partnership to acquire information. 

Not only did each partner- and, hence, the Partnerships - have access to the Partnerships' 

books, some of the partners even actually reviewed them prior to December of 2008. Exhibit 11, 

pgs. 47-50. More specifically: 

• In the fall of 2008, two representatives of one of the partners physically went to 

the Partnerships' offices and reviewed the records; one for the second time, and one of the 

representatives was told about Sullivan sharing his fees with others. Exhibit 9 ifl l; Exhibit 10 if2; 

10 "A partner's knowledge, notice or receipt of a notification of a fact relating to the partnership is effective 
immediately as knowledge by, notice to, or receipt of a notification by the partnership," except in the cases of fraud 
by that partner, which exception does not apply to all of the non-defendant partners who had access to the books and 
actually received documents evidencing the payments to Avellino and Bienes. 
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• A number of partners beyond those named as defendants were paid referral fees. 

Exhibit 9 ilil5, 7, exhibits to same. Knowledge of each such partner is statutorily imputed to the 

Partnerships; 

• Several partners executed a letter in which they admitted that the documents 

which had been provided indicated that Sullivan had paid fees to Avellino and Bienes. Exhibit 9 

ill3; 

• In addition, in November of 2011 - more than a year before this suit was filed -

at the insistence of a partner, the Partnerships' records were delivered to the partner's accountant. 

Exhibit 9 ill 3. 

Individual partners, therefore, not only had constructive knowledge, but they had actual 

knowledge of the contents of the records. As a matter of law, the Partnerships are charged with 

such knowledge. §620.8102(6) Fla. Stat.; Brooks Tropicals v. Acosta, 959 So. 2d 288. None of 

Plaintiffs' affidavits deny, or even address, the sworn testimony by Jacob that the specific 

documents attached to his Affidavit which clearly identify the payments made to Avellino and 

Bienes were contained in the Partnerships' Books and Records. 

In an effort to escape the inescapable conclusion that the Partnerships had knowledge of 

their own records, Plaintiffs argue that the documents which the Partnerships did have were 

concealed. However, once again, rather than address Sullivan's testimony of the five to ten 

times when partners actually reviewed the records, Exhibit 11, pg. 47, Plaintiffs rely on 

testimony which does not negate this fact. The deposition testimony of Stapleton, a 

representative of another partner, is the only evidence Plaintiffs proffer of such concealment 

before the Madoff scandal was publicized in December 2008, but he only said that he did not 

know if others had even "asked" to look at the Partnerships' books and records before 2008. 
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Exhibit 12, pg. 40. This testimony does nothing to contradict Sullivan's unrebutted testimony 

that five or ten partners looked at the books before that time; it confirms only that the particular 

deponent did not know if other partners had asked to review the Partnerships' records. It does 

not indicate that he knew even one partner who had requested access - much less been denied 

access - before December 2008. 11 

The other evidence of concealment offered by the Plaintiffs involves the alleged 

difficulty which the Conservator and Margaret Smith had in obtaining documents from Sullivan 

after December of 2008. Disregarding the inaccuracies of this argument, and the fact that 

Sullivan's wrongs cannot be used to extend the statute against Avellino & Bienes, this argument 

has no relevance to whether or not, through the years prior to the publication of the Madoff 

scandal, the partners had access to the books. The ability of Sullivan's successors, after 

allegations of breaches of fiduciary duty have been leveled against Sullivan, to obtain documents 

from him is a totally separate issue from the access granted previously to all partners during the 

normal operation of the Partnerships. For the same reason, neither the Conservator's 

appointment in 2013 - after this suit was filed - nor the letter written in August of 2012, can be 

used to extend the statute of limitations. By the time that letter was written, and the Conservator 

appointed, it had been years since the partners had had both constructive and actual knowledge 

of the transfers, and the year in which they "'knew or should have known" of the transfers had 

long-since past. 12 See, e.g., Smith v. Barnett Nat. Bank of Jacksonville, 156 So. 478, 480 (Fla. 

1934) (where the statute of limitations began to run, the subsequent appointment of a receiver 

11 Nor does Stapleton's testimony that he "eventually" asked Sullivan what he had done with the management fees 
negate Sullivan's testimony that others reviewed the records before December 2008, or offer any evidence of 
Sullivan's refusal to allow access to the records before the post-December 2008 accusations began to fly. Exhibit 
12, pg.74, 75. 
12 Furthermore, within two weeks of the August letter, Plaintiffs had already filed at least one law suit alleging that 
fees had been paid to Sullivan and his co-conspirators, and that Avellino had control over Sullivan and had found 
Sullivan and other "front men" as a way to raise money for Madoff, so the letter did not prevent them from taking 
any action. Exhibit 13 iii! 19, 20, 22, 23, 25, 26, 27, 28 and 30. 
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does not stop the running of statute of limitations). Plaintiffs are not only trying to extend the 

statute of limitations, but to revive it after it has already expired. Once they were charged with 

knowledge by access to, and actual inspection of, the records prior to December 2008, they had 

to file suit within a year of acquiring that knowledge; subsequent events cannot erase that 

knowledge and start the statute over again. Were Plaintiffs' argument to be adopted, the passage 

of the statute of limitations could never be conclusively determined because the subsequent 

appointment of a conservator would revive it if it had totally elapsed, or start the period anew 

even if all but a short period of the statute had elapsed. 

Plaintiffs also had to file suit while they still had a claim against Sullivan, as the 

definitions of claim, creditor, debt and debtor on which the fraudulent transfer statute is based 

are all contingent on whether the plaintiff has a "right to payment" from the party who 

transferred its assets. §726.102(4-7), Fla. Stat. The viable causes of action which Plaintiffs had 

directly against Sullivan also expired before this suit was filed in December 2012.13 Therefore, 

Plaintiffs had no claim against Sullivan as of the time this case was filed, so cannot maintain an 

action for fraudulent transfer. 

Plaintiffs' cases are not controlling, or even persuasive, as they specifically rely on a 

provision of the Bankruptcy code with no application in this state court proceeding. Nat'l Union 

Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa. v. Grusky, 763 So. 2d 1206, 1209 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), and 

Roberson v. Johnson, 950 So. 2d 317, 321 (Ala. Civ. App. 2006) both explained that, "[t]he 

language of§ 524(e) of the 1978 Bankruptcy Code reveals a congressional intent to broaden the 

rights of creditors, by preserving their actions against third parties and their property, and to 

13 Those causes of action remaining against Sullivan as of the Fourth Amended Complaint (the last one before his 
settlement with Plaintiffs), as otherwise found by this Court, expired at most four years after each payment was 
made, and could not be extended by the continuing tort, equitable tolling or other doctrines. 
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restrict the effect of a discharge solely to a release of the personal liability of the debtor." There 

is no comparable provision within Florida's fraudulent transfer statutes. 

Plaintiffs' reliance on In re Burton Wiand Receivership Cases Pending, 2008 WL 

818509, is similarly misplaced as that case - unlike our own - involved a receiver of an entity 

which itself was operated as a Ponzi scheme. Plaintiffs' case may be applicable in a case 

brought by Madoff' s bankruptcy Trustee, but not in a state court case brought by the 

Partnerships' Conservator, as neither they - nor even Sullivan - actually operated a Ponzi 

scheme. Furthermore, Wiand explicitly acknowledged that the "Florida Uniform Fraudulent 

Transfers Act is not a catchall statute to permit an entity which has transferred its assets to others 

or had them stolen to recover those assets from whomever may be in possession of them as a 

substitute for a direct cause of action against that person or entity." It is obvious that this 

fraudulent transfer action has been brought as a substitute for a direct cause of action against 

Avellino and Bienes, and is not allowed. By the time they brought this action, Plaintiffs' claims 

against Avellino, Bienes, and Sullivan were too late. They cannot remedy this fact by suing 

Avellino and Bienes for fraudulent transfers made to defeat a claim against Sullivan when they 

couldn't sue Sullivan for that claim. There is no claim for fraudulent transfer to defeat a non­

existent claim. A transfer which occurs before a claim accrues may be fraudulent because there 

is still the possibility of a claim. After the statute has expired, there is no possibility of a claim. 

Plaintiffs' assertions that they received some documents in May of 2012, some in August 

and some in 2013 are also fatally defective. They emphasize when they acquired "significant" 

or "complete" records from which "exact" damages could be calculated, but those dates are 

irrelevant; a cause of action accrues before "complete" knowledge is acquired. Hynd, 582 So. 
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2d at 773; Breitz 561 So. 2d 1204. Never did Plaintiffs contradict Defendants' evidence - or 

their own admissions - that the Partnerships' records contained the requisite information. 

Equally unavailing is Plaintiffs' argument that they are not considered to have sufficient 

knowledge to begin the running of the statute until they knew that the transfers were fraudulent. 

This is simply not the law in Florida. Discovery of the transfer itself is the start of the period of 

limitations, even if the plaintiffs did not know at that time that the transfer was fraudulent. Nat'l 

Auto Serv. Centers, Inc. v. FIR 550, LLC, 192 So. 3d 498 (Fla. 2d DCA 2016), reh'g denied 

(May 25, 2016) ("Because the statute unambiguously defmes the operative event as the 

discovery of the disposition of the asset, the statute cannot mean that the one-year period runs 

from the claimant's discovery of facts showing that the disposition of the asset may have been 

fraudulent as to creditors." Id. at 505.). Instead of relying on this case, Plaintiffs rely on the out 

of state case of Freitag v. McGhie, 133 Wash. 2d 816, 821, 947 P.2d 1186, 1188 (1997), as 

amended (Dec. 18, 1997), the analysis of which the Second District of Florida explicitly 

considered and rejected. Plaintiffs also rely upon In re Fair Fin. Co. v. Textron, 834 F.3d 651 

(6th Cir. 2016), which surmised that an Ohio court would not begin the running of the statute of 

limitations until the discovery of fraud, but which specifically recognized that Florida law is to 

the contrary. Id. at 673. Florida, has, in fact, rejected the analysis used by the Sixth Circuit. 

Nat'l Auto, supra. 

It should go without saying that Florida law is that which must be followed by this Court. 

See, e.g., In re Tabor, 75 Collier Banla. Cas. 2d 1521 (Banla. S.D. Fla. 2016) (holding that 

"[t]he relevant date is the date the Transfer itself was or could reasonably have been discovered. 

It does not matter whether any creditor would have realized the transfer was fraudulent" because 

the National Auto decision, as the only intermediate appellate court opinion is - without a Florida 
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Supreme Court decision - "binding authority.") See, also, State of Florida v Hayes, 333 So.2d 51 

(Fla. 4th DCA 1976). 

Therefore, Plaintiffs' assertions that the fraudulent transfer count is premised on their 

allegations that the referral fees were made from capital contributions, and that they did not 

know of the capital contributions until later, is totally irrelevant. Knowledge that the transfers 

were fraudulent was not necessary to begin the running of the statute. That argument, 

furthermore, is not the only basis for Plaintiffs' assertion that the transfers were fraudulent, and 

is merely a red herring which serves no purpose other than to try (unsuccessfully) to extend the 

statute. 

Finally, the argument about the use of the capital accounts cannot salvage the Plaintiffs 

claim because any claim based upon the capital accounts would belong to the individual partners 

whose accounts were wrongfully used, and not to the Plaintiffs. 

The Plaintiffs' assertion that the date of discovery should not be before the appointment 

of the conservator is similarly unpersuasive as it ignores the fact that both Partnerships 

themselves are plaintiffs, and the fact that the case they cite, In re Burton Wiand, 2008 WL 

818509, denied a motion to dismiss in reliance on a North Carolina case relating to the adverse 

domination theory, which would violate Florida Statute §95.051 if applied in Florida. In re 

Southeast. Banking v Brandt, 855 F. Supp. 353, 357-358 (S.D. Fla. 1994).14 Wiand, furthermore, 

involved a receiver who had been appointed to take over a Ponzi scheme and a claim against the 

operator of that Ponzi scheme. Neither the Partnerships nor Sullivan ran a Ponzi scheme. 

Plaintiffs contest the admissibility of much of the affidavit testimony of Steven Jacob. 

As illustrated above, that testimony is not needed to prove that the Partnerships' records contain 

14 See, also, Brandt v. Lazard Freres & Co., LLC, 96-2653-CIV-DA VIS, 1997 WL 469325, at *5 (S.D. Fla. 1997) 
regarding Florida's rejection of the adverse domination theory. 
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the information about payments to Avellino and Bienes. 15 Their argument that Kelly was not 

acting as agent for the partner on whose behalf he inspected the documents is similarly irrelevant 

- Kelly's knowledge, too, is unnecessary to prove the fact that partners inspected the books, 

Sullivan's testimony in that regard was not disputed, one of the partner's CPA's reviewed the 

records both with Kelly and years earlier, and the records were later delivered to another CPA of 

a partner. 16 

Plaintiffs rely on an order entered in the case of P & S Associates v Janet A Hooker 

Charitable Trust, Case No. 12-034121 (07). However, without proof in that case of evidence of 

the subject payments being contained within the Partnerships' records, as there is in this case, 

this order has no precedential value in reference to the fraudulent transfer count. Furthermore, as 

pointed out by Plaintiffs, the Hooker court indicated that "the time to bring this cause of action is 

extended to one year after the partnerships, as creditors/victims of the fraud, had the ability to 

determine the facts .... " Response at 10 (emphasis added). Contrary to Plaintiff's position in this 

case, the court did not indicate that the statute of limitations was extended to one year after the 

"Conservator" learned the facts. 

II. Unsatisfied Claim Against Sullivan 

The existence of the second judgment against Sullivan does not negate the facts that 

Plaintiffs had no claim against him as of the time they filed suit, or that the judgment against him 

is only for $50,000.00. Pursuant to the only statute that gives them a remedy, Plaintiffs may 

15 
As set forth more fully in the Response to Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike the Affidavit of Jacob, its contents are 

admissible and it should not be stricken for containing hearsay as he is not affirming, for example, the truth of the 
matter contained in those records; the purpose of his testimony is to show that payments to Avellino and Bienes 
were mentioned - not that that the payments were actually made. 
16 Regardless of whether Kelly told his partners what he learned while speaking with Sullivan and while looking 
through Sullivan's records, the partnerships are charged with his knowledge, Brooks v. Acosta 295 (Fla. 3d DCA 
2007); he was acting for the partnership when reviewing the records as that is the only reason he was granted 
permission to do so - the fact that he asked a question which could have provided information helpful to him does 
not negate the fact that he was reviewing the records for his partners. 
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recover "to the extent necessary to satisfy the creditor's claim," and are specifically limited to the 

lesser of the amount required to satisfy their claim against Sullivan or the amount transferred. §§ 

728.108(1) (a), 726.109(2), Fla. Stat. 

Florida case law is as unequivocal as the statute on this point: 

The cause of action in this case was based solely on Florida [as 
opposed to bankruptcy] law. Under section 726.109(2), the creditor 
may recover 'judgment for the value of the asset transferred, as 
adjusted under [section 726.109] subsection 3, or the amount 
necessary to satisfy the creditor's claim, whichever is less.' The 
court's instruction to the jury tracked this language. The jury found 
that over $600,000 had been fraudulently conveyed; but the 
evidence established that, at the time of trial, the amount of 
Bredlau's judgment was $183,716.27. Therefore, the statute 
required the entry of judgment in the amount of the claim. 

Myers v. Brook, 708 So. 2d 607, 611 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). The cases cited by Plaintiffs did not 

involve a statute such as § 726.109 which explicitly limits the amount of recovery to the "lesser" 

of the amount transferred or the amount of the claim. Again, their reliance on bankruptcy cases 

is misplaced. In re Tronox Inc., 464 B.R.606 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2012), for example, involved 11 

U.S.C. § 550(a), which provides that the trustee or debtor-in-possession "may recover for the 

benefit of the estate, the property transferred, or, if the court so orders, the value of such 

property." The Tronox Court correctly noted that there is no support "in the plain words of the 

statute" for the argument that the amount which can be recovered against the transferees is 

capped at the total claims of the creditors. Having enough to make the creditors whole is not the 

same as making the debtor's estate whole as a greater sum may have been transferred than is 

owed to creditors. In fact, the Tronox Court specifically distinguished its ruling under 

bankruptcy law from the law of Oklahoma, on which the transferee wanted to rely, when it said, 

"[l]ike many other state fraudulent transfer laws, the Oklahoma statute provides that the creditor 

in a fraudulent transfer action may not recover more than 'the amount necessary to satisfy the 
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creditor's claim." This limitation reflects the different purposes of a fraudulent transfer 

proceeding brought under state law by a creditor on behalf of that creditor only, and an action 

pursued by a bankruptcy estate representative on behalf of the 'estate."' Id. at 615-616. 

In re Acequia, Inc., 34 F.3d 800, 807 (9th Cir. 1994), also cited by Plaintiffs, was 

similarly restricted to the issue of whether a transferee could be liable for more than the amount 

owing to unsecured creditors, which is not the same as the total amount due from the debtor to 

the bankrupt entity. Again, the case upon which Plaintiffs rely distinguished itself from other 

situations and thereby proved the inapplicability of Plaintiffs' position: 

Id. at 808. 

The two cases cited by Clinton are inapposite. In Allard v. 
DeLorean, 884 F.2d 464 (9th Cir.1989), we dismissed as moot the 
appeal of a bankruptcy trustee who had settled fraudulent 
conveyance litigation against the debtor: "[The trustee] is no 
longer a creditor in this action because . .. [he] executed and filed a 
full satisfaction of judgment.. .. [He therefore] is not entitled to the 
remedy of setting aside [the debtor]'s conveyance ... as fraudulent 

The very cases on which Plaintiffs rely therefore support Defendants' position. McCalla 

v. E.C. Kenyon Const. Co., Inc., 183 So. 3d 1192 (Fla. 1st DCA 2016), also acknowledged that 

recovery against a transferee is limited to the lesser of the amount transferred or the amount of 

the claim against the debtor, and merely referenced an issue that was not on appeal - that sums 

received from the insurance company of the judgment debtor/general contractor should be offset 

against the amount recovered against the principals/transferees of the contractor. This case did 

not involve a settlement with the judgment debtor/contractor, as does the instant case. 

Discharge in bankruptcy, governed by specific rules which allow claims against 

transferees to survive, cannot be equated with stipulated judgments for sums certain or absolute 

releases. \Vhen considering the specific statutory limitation of §726.109 with general rules 
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regarding joint and several liability, the specific statute must be followed. See, e.g., Barnett 

Banks Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 738 So.2d 502 (1st DCA 1999) ("it is a basic tenet of 

statutory construction that 'a specific statute covering a particular subject area always controls 

over a statute covering the same and other subjects in more general terms."' Id. at 505); State of 

Florida v. J M, 824 So. 2d 105 (2002). Plaintiffs cannot, by agreed order with someone other 

than Avellino and Bienes, change the statutory limitation and allow a greater recovery against 

them than is permitted by statute. 

When the specific fraudulent transfer statute is followed, the result is a foregone 

conclusion. The fraudulent transfer procedure is merely a conduit to collect a debt; it does not 

create a separate cause of action which is enforceable in the absence of an underlying debt. "A 

valid, presently enforceable debt against the original transferor is an essential element of an 

action against the transferee to set aside a fraudulent transfer [citations to at least five states 

omitted]. This rule has a long history. [citations omitted]. The rationale for the rule is explained 

in Jorden v. Ball, 258 N.E.2d at 737: 

The uniform fraudulent conveyance act confers jurisdiction to set 
aside conveyances made with actual intent "to hinder, delay, or 
defraud either present or future creditors, ... The act is remedial. It 
provides a method by which the frustration of claims by a 
conveyance may be avoided, but it does not create new claims. To 
benefit from the rights it creates, a person must qualify as a 
"creditor," defined in the act as "a person having any claim, 
whether matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, 
absolute, fixed or contingent." As we stated in Blumenthal v. 
Blumenthal, 303 Mass. 275, 278, 21N.E.2d244, 246, 'The remedy 
is incidental to the claim. If the claim is not established, then the 
whole proceedings fail, and the bill must be dismissed. ' Even if the 
claimant was a "creditor " when the fraudulent transfer occurred, 
the claimant loses her status as a creditor if her claim against the 
transferor becomes barred by the statute of limitations, a non­
claim statute, or other method. 

Jahner v. Jacob, 515 N.W.2d 183, 185 (N.D. 1994) (emphasis added). 
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III. Fraudulent Intent 

Plaintiffs are correct that issues of fraud require the Court to carefully analyze the 

allegations before granting summary judgment. There are, however, still many instances in 

which the lack of fraud can be, and has been, determined as a matter of law. See, e.g., Davis v. 

Monahan, 832 So. 2d 708, 712 (Fla. 2002); Hynd, 582 So. 2d 772; Pac. Harbor Capital, Inc. v. 

Barnett Bank, NA., 252 F.3d 1246, 1249 (11th Cir. 2001), as amended (July 3, 2001; Young v. 

Ball, 835 So. 2d 385 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). This is one of those instances. 

Plaintiffs are misapplying the badges of fraud. The badges on which they rely would be 

applicable if the individual partners were the plaintiffs and creditors of the Partnerships, and the 

Partnerships had made allegedly fraudulent transfers to Sullivan. However, the individuals are 

not plaintiffs/creditors and the Partnerships could not bring action on their behalf. Nor can the 

Conservator/Plaintiff be considered the creditor of the Partnerships/Plaintiff; as set forth above, 

the cases involving a receiver of a Ponzi scheme are inapplicable, and the statute of limitations 

based on transfers to Sullivan long since elapsed. For purposes of this action, therefore, the 

Partnerships are the creditors of Sullivan, who allegedly made the fraudulent transfers to the 

defendants. The badges of fraud, therefore, must be analyzed with Sullivan as the debtor who 

made the fraudulent transactions: 

• The transfers were to an Insider: "Insider" has a specific definition and includes, 

in reference to a debtor who is a person, a relative of a general partner, a general partner in a 

partnership in which the debtor is a general partner, or a corporation of which the debtor is a 

director, officer, or person in control. §726.102 (8)( a), Fla. Stat. Avellino and Bienes fit into 

none of these categories and are not, therefore, "insiders" of Sullivan. Nor are they insiders of 

MDS as they are not directors, officers, general partners in a partnership in which the debtor is a 
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general partner, or relatives of any such people §726.102 (8)(b)). Although Plaintiffs have 

alleged that they "controlled" Sullivan, they have proffered no evidence of controlling the 

corporation, and the evidence they have proffered falls woefully short of establishing control of 

either Sullivan or his entities, even if they had pled it. Sullivan's sworn statements that they had 

no involvement with, or control of, MDS, is uncontroverted by any admissible evidence. Exhibit 

10 ii 9; 

• The transfers were concealed: as set forth above, the Partnerships repeatedly 

admitted that evidence of the payments to Avellino and Bienes were contained within their own 

records; 

• Insolvency of the Debtor: Plaintiffs have proffered evidence as to the insolvency 

of the Partnerships, but not of Sullivan; the solvency of the Partnerships is irrelevant; Sullivan's 

affidavit of solvency is uncontested. Exhibit 10, iis. 

• The debtor retained possession or control of the property after the transfer: There 

is no proof, or even allegation, that Sullivan maintained such control after he made the payments 

to Avellino & Bienes; 

• Before the transfers were made, the debtor had been sued or threatened with suit: 

The transfers began in 2000 - years before any problems with Madoff were mentioned; there is 

no evidence to refute Sullivan's testimony that, when he made the transfers, he had not been 

threatened with suit. 17 Exhibit 10 ii 7; 

• The transfer was of substantially all the debtor's assets: Other than Sullivan's 

Affidavit to the contrary, there is no evidence of Sullivan's assets as of the time of each transfer. 

Exhibit 10, iis; 

17 
There is an improper conclusion by Plaintiffs' expert that one payment was made after December 2008; that does 

not negate the fact that every other transfer was made prior to even the hint of a claim. 
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• The debtor absconded: Sullivan has done nothing to conceal his whereabouts; 

• The debtor removed or concealed assets: There is no evidence or allegation of 

same; 

• The value of the consideration received by the debtor was reasonably equivalent 

to the value of the asset transferred or the amount of the obligation incurred: Again, Plaintiffs' 

only proffered evidence "supporting" this badge is Mukamal's opinion that Sullivan wasn't 

entitled to management fees at all (or in the amount received). Pl's SOF §27. This evidence not 

only does not relate to whether Sullivan - the debtor - received consideration, but it is an 

impermissible "opinion" of an expert; 

• The transfer occurred shortly before or shortly after a substantial debt was 

incurred: The transfers occurred over a period of time approaching a decade; there is no proof of 

such a debt to contradict Sullivan's testimony that there was no such debt. Exhibit 10 if8; 

• The debtor transferred the essential assets of the business to a lienor who 

transferred the assets to an insider of the debtor: Totally inapplicable. 

§ 726.105, Fla. Stat. 

Therefore, nine of the eleven statutory badges of fraud have not even arguably been 

shown to apply. The only ones which even could apply are Avellino and Bienes 'control' of 

MDS and the concealment of the payments to them. As set forth above, those indicia do not 

exist and have not been shone to exist by competent evidence; nor are the miscellaneous other 

alleged badges sufficient to create an issue of fact. The issue, for example, is Sullivan's intent to 

defraud - not the intent of Avellino or Bienes, and his advising Sullivan to seek counsel reflects 

a lack of control over him. Without these badges of fraud, judgment should be entered against 

Defendant. See, e.g., Johnson v. Dowell, 592 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (reversed a 
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judgment in a fraudulent transfer case with instructions to enter judgment for the defendant 

because "a single badge of fraud may only create a suspicious circumstance and may not 

constitute the requisite fraud to set aside a conveyance, even though several of them when 

considered together may afford a basis to infer fraud." Id. at 1197.). In this case, despite 

Plaintiffs' best efforts, "the badges of fraud" do not exist. 

IV. Conduct of Sullivan 

Throughout the Response, Plaintiffs rely on conduct of Sullivan in an attempt to extend 

the statute of limitations against Avellino and Bienes. This is not permitted. See, e.g., Univ. of 

Miami v. Bogar.ff, 583 So. 2d 1000, 1004 -1005 (Fla. 1991). This Court should disregard all 

references to Sullivan which are used to extend the limitations period against the remaining 

defendants. 

CONCLUSION 

Plaintiffs' attempts to create confusion should not be condoned. The illusory, "paper 

issues" are not sufficient to require a trial: 

• The documents of the Partnerships contained evidence of the payments to 

Avellino & Bien es as proven by: 

* 

* 

* 

* 

testimony, 

* 

Plaintiffs' multiple sworn interrogatory answers, 

Plaintiffs' expert witness' reports, 

Jacob's affidavit, 

Sullivan's affidavit, which did not definitely refute unequivocal pnor 

Letter of some partners to other partners, which indicated that the records 

reflected that Sullivan had paid fees to Avellino and Bienes. 
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Plaintiffs' purposefully vague affidavits never actually say that evidence of the payments 

1s not identified within the books of the Partnerships, and deliberately ignore the specific 

documents and information supporting the motion for summary judgment; 

• The partners had access to the Partnerships' records at all times prior to 

December 2008, and therefore had at least constructive knowledge of their contents as 

proven by 

* Sullivan's uncontradicted testimony; the fact that Stepelton did not know 

the names of anyone who had asked to see the records does not refute this fact. 

* Jacob's uncontradicted testimony. 

• Several partners were given physical access to review the records: 

* Patrick Kelly and Susan Davis inspected the records in the fall of 2008 on 

behalf of a foundation which was one of the partners; 

* Susan Davis had inspected the Partnerships' records even before that; 

* At a partner's insistence, the Partnerships' records were delivered to the 

partner's accountant in November of2011; 

* Partners of the Partnerships reviewed their records between five and ten 

times before December 2008. 

There is, therefore, no material question of fact as to whether payments to Avellino and 

Bienes were reflected within the Partnerships' records. The partners, and by statutory dictate, 

the Partnerships, were on both constructive and actual notice of same. As a matter of law, 

therefore, they knew or should have known of the payments to Avellino and Bienes as they were 

made throughout the years but, for purposes of this motion, by at least December 2008. If 

relying upon the statutory exception giving them one year from when they knew or should have 
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known about the transfers, Plaintiffs would have had to have filed suit by December 2009. 

A letter written in 2012 and a conservator being appointed in 2013 did not revive the statute for 

them. 18 

• Plaintiffs cannot maintain this action to collect a claim when the claim didn't 

exist at the time the suit was filed, or to recover more than its current $50,000.00 judgment 

against Sullivan. As established by statute, Plaintiffs recovery from Avellino and Bienes is 

limited to the amount of their claim against Sullivan; their claim against Sullivan is their "right to 

payment." Their right to payment is, at most, the $50,000.00 judgment. 

• Even construing all "evidence" relating to indicia of fraud in the light most 

favorable to Plaintiffs, their "evidence" consists of nothing but conjecture and improperly 

drawn inferences which cannot overcome Sullivan's testimony and does not satisfy 

Plaintiffs' burden of proving actual intent. 

Plaintiffs ignore controlling Florida law and rely instead upon bankruptcy and out-of-

state cases which specifically distinguish themselves from Florida state law. 

It is well settled that the law favors the defense of statute of limitations. 
The United States Supreme Court has stated to that effect: The defense of 
the statute of limitations is not a technical defense but substantial and 
meritorious .... Statutes of limitation are vital to the welfare of society and 
are favored in the law. 

Brandt v. Lazard Freres & Co., 1997 WL 469325, at *2 (citations omitted). 

Based on the foregoing, judgment on the pleadings or summary judgment should be 

entered in favor of Defendants dismissing Plaintiffs' Count IV of Fifth Amended Complaint with 

prejudice. Alternatively, in order to narrow the issues to be tried, partial judgment on the 

pleadings or summary judgment should be entered dismissing any portion of the claims as the 

18 This Court has already ruled that the statute oflimitations based upon the four years from the transfers had 
elapsed, so the only issue remaining is whether this suit was filed more than a year from when the Plaintiffs knew or 
should have known about the transfers. 
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Court deems appropriate. Defendants further request, in the alternative, partial summary 

judgment restricting the amount of damages to $50,000.00. To the extent necessary, Defendants 

also request this Court to strike, or at least disregard, Plaintiffs' affidavits and arguments which 

contradict earlier testimony, which constitute inadmissible evidence such as hearsay and 

unsubstantiated conclusions, and which are not supported by the record to which Plaintiffs cite. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing document is being 

served on those on the attached service list by electronic service via the Florida Court E-Filing 

Portal in compliance with Fla. Admin. Order No. 13-49 this 1st day of March, 2017. 
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IN TI1E CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 
SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, 
IN AND FOR BROW ARD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA 

Case No. Case No. 12-034123 (07) 
Complex Litigation Unit 

PHIT..IP J. VON KAHLE, as Conservator 
of P &S Associates, General Partnership 
and S&P Associates, General Partnership, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et al., 

Defendants. 

I 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

PLAINTIFF, CONSERVATOR PHILIP J. VON KAHLE'S, 
REVISED RESPONSES TO DEFENDANT :MICHAEL 

BffiNES' FIRST SET OF INTERROGATORIES TO PLAINTIFF 

Plaintiff, Philip J. Von Kahle as Conservator of P&S Associates, General Partnership 

("P&S") and S&P Associates, General Partnership ("S&P", together with P&S, the 

"Partnerships") ("Conservator'' or "Plaintiff'') by and through undersigned counsel, hereby 

submits his revised responses to Defendant, Michael Bienes' ("Bienes" or "Defendant") 

First Set of Interrogatories Numbers 3, 4, 6, 9, 10, 14, and 15 to Plaintiff, Philip J. Von 

Kahle, as Conservator of P&S General Partnership and S&P General Partnership. 

OBJECTIONS 

All responses of the Plaintiff to Bienes' Interrogatories are made subject to and without 

waiving these objections common to all interrogatories. 

1. The Plaintiff objects to each and every interrogatory to the extent they call for the 

proprietary, confidential, and/or financial information of the Partnerships and/or a non-party. 
5790829-1 
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communications. Plaintiffs also object to this interrogatory because the undefined term 

"investor/general partner" is vague and unclear. Further, discovery has only recently begun and 

the Conservator is still investigating certain claims. To the extent that the term "investor/general 

partner" refers to general partners in the Partnerships, the Plaintiff responds: 

It is believed that the following general partners of P&S were solicited by Bienes to 

invest in P&S because the books and records of P&S indicate that Bienes received a Kickback 

(as defined in the operative complaint in this action) in relation to those general partners' 

investments with P&S. Those general partners' investments were made by the below general 

partners becoming general partners with P&S, and the amounts and dates of those general 

partner's investments in P&S are as follows: 

• Andrea Acker - Invested $100,000 
-----~-~~~"-···--·---~ ........... , ____________ _ 

Balance New Ending 
Acker Andrea J. Forward Investment Distributions Balance 

·········· ----, .. L ..... -............. ----·······--· .. ----·-----.. ·--··- -··--··-·· .... -......... -··- -···-- .. ·-· 

2008 ... - ...... ,. ·-·--·- --'---$ - -----'-$_10_0-'-,o_oo_.oo ....... ... ... . .................. ,. ..... ....... ~JQQ_,_QQQ~Q ___ _ 
Acker Total .... ..... .. .... t ...... ---------- $100,000.00 $ 100,000.0_Q_ ...... 

• Carone Family Trust - Invested $335,000 

Balance New Ending 

.... ~:.!!.:~!!~ ... :f::i.~Jr Trust __ ....... !f.f?.~~!:~ ... - ·-·----J~.Y..~.S.~~!!~ .............. ~!.s~!:!~.!!.~~-1!._S ___ Balance _ _ 
2004 ................. $ $33 5 ,ooo .oq_:_·---·----·--------------- ----~L~.~.?_,.9.QQ:Q9_ 
2005 .... _ ....... -. ., ........ ..... , ... Jl~~.:Q90 . .QO $ $ (90,000.00) $ 245,0Q9.o_q ___ ., .. . 
2006 ...... ... . $.~~:?.i.9.9.9.:9.9. .... .... t .. ________________ $ 245,000.00 

_2-QQ7-_ .. _______ ______ $24:5,0QO.QQ _ __ .l .... .. ---·-----·-··---·--·-·------·--- $ 245,000.00 
2008 -. .......... ... ___ $245,000.00 $ ________ ...... ~ - -~±?. ... QQQ_~Q_Q. __ _ 
Carone Family Trust Total $335,000.00 $ (90,000.00) $ 245,000.00 

• Carone Gallery Inc., Pension Trust - Invested $474,986 
.................... -..................................... __________ _ ·-···--------·-·······--·- ··-· .. ·-······················-··············-·--·-······· ----·--·-·------
Carone Gallery, Inc. 
Pension Trust ......................... -.. ------
2000 
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Balance New Ending 
Forward Investment Distributions Balance --··-.. ····-·-"·--···"'"'''"' .. .................. -·-· ··········-·····-··-·····.,·-······-- ·-·---- ------

$ $198,000.0Q_, __________ _. _ _., ......... .............. J .. J2.~)QQ9.~.9Q_ 
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-

-------- ···----- ·---·-·- .. ·--------·----·-·----------------------
Kelco Foundation - Balance New Ending 
Terminated Forward Investment Distributions Balance 

·-·-·-·-·----------~~·-·-.. ---- ·------· ·~···-·- · 

2001 --·--·-·------··-~_{742.32L ____ ~----·-------$~<7_42_.3_2~) _ 
200& $ C?~~}-~)_ ___ . ____ t. ___ , ___ , ________ .,_._._____ $ (742.32) 

Kelco Foundation -
Terminated Total $ 23,850.68 $ (24,593.~~) __ ~_(?.~.!~}.2 ...... _, __ ----------· 

It is believed that the following general partners of S&P were solicited by Bienes to 

invest in S&P because the books and records of S&P indicate that Bienes received a Kickback 

(as defined in the operative complaint in this action) in relation to those general partners' 

investments with S&P. Those general partners' investments were made by the below general 

partners becoming general partners with S&P, and the amounts and dates of those general 

partner's investments in S&P are as follows: 

• Roberta P. Alves & Vania P. Duarte-Invested $49,000. 

Ah1es, Roberta P. & Vania P. Duart«:_ ____ !!_~anc;~·--- .. ··----··-~~!1~.~!!_~g~----~.1!!>.!!!-:.Sel!_lents 
1993 $40,000.00 

1994 ----.. ·--------------~--.'.!Q.!900. 0Q___ $ (5,000.00) 
1995 ____ J_~5 ,0Q9.J!.Q ___ ,, ______ .. ______ ,, _______ ~--·-··-·-.. --.J_Q~OO. 00) 

~~----·--··-· $ 32,000.00 ... ------·---~Q,Q9Q:.9..9t . 
1997 _ ........ _, _______ . ____ ,, ______ ~,J2&Q.9..:9Q______ $ (2,500.00) 

1998 ... -................ 1 .. ;?~i.?.QQ:Q.9_ ....... _ ...... .. ............ - ... ---···--· ............ ________ ,jSb.9..QQ.OQL 
1999 $ 24,500.00 $9,000.00 $ _~~!~2.Q:2:91 .. 

_,,_~_QQQ ___ ,._____________________ $. 27,000.00 $ (10,000.00) 

2001 _________________ .. __ J_lJ.!992:2~L ....... --.. -·---··-·------·-··--·--·-·-.. --.... -t(?:,ooo.09_2_ 
2002 $ 12,000.00 $ <1~2009.:QQL 

...... -19~-... -.... ·-·---·-·"·----.. ··------.. $ $ (5,000.00) 
2004 ,,_, ___ ,.,w.oo• .. -•-·-•·••·•tJ~.9.Q0.0_9)__,,.,. . .,. ______ .__. __ 
2005 ____ $ __ ~.!.000.0Q) _______________________ _ , _______ ,,, ______ ..................... __ _ 

__ -1:.Q~--------·--- $ (5,000.00) --------·-··-··---
......... ?/lf!!.. ...... ---·--·------·---·-·- $ (5 ,000. 00) 

2008 _ _ ____________ l,_(~!.QQQ;QQL .............................. _____ ........ ... ---·-·-····t(~_o,ooo .oo) 
Alves Total 

579082.9-1 

_____ _ $49,ooo.oo ____________ $ (641.~_QQ:.~9-L 
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VER:lFICATION 

lhavereadthttforegom~swerstofheabovelntflI!CTO",)Uor:iesanddoswean:irufuroatban.d.p&rmJty 

oijJ~m::etroeand.¢on:ect. 

S·&"P ASSQCIATES, GEN.ElLU.PARTIIBRSBJP 
P&S ASSOCIATE~ GENER.AL:PARINERSHIP 

~ .. Kahle, .. ~ 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
COUNTY OF]2£1}WJ]li...0 ) 

'I'h.e.foregai:n~wledgedbeforemethiB 'l 1 ~ G.ayef JtJn.£, , 
2014~ 
~.v 01'1Kahle,.asConsarv-atoroiSftPGene<ralAssociates1GenmaJP~.andP&s&:st:!ciates 
,Goo.er:alPm:tnerahlp,whois~~om~oclueed 
~~~~~~~--a~·siBerrti-· ncatiamtndW.hpdiM~ 

{seal) 

.57SOJ12!1..1 

(Ptintor'I'y_p~N&me): 6\SE.lle Czornb're. 

My C.Omroission &:pires: '1 l u 1 I '$ 
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PHILIP J. VON KAHLE, as Conservator of 
P&S Associates, General Partnership and 
S&P Associates, General Partnership 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et al., 

Defendants. 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE 
SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA 

Case No. 12-034123 (07) 
Complex Litigation Unit 

PLAINTIFFS RESPONSES TO FRANK A VELLINO'S THIRD 
SET OF INTERROGATORIES TO PLAINTIFFS 

Plaintiff, Philip J. Von Kahle as Conservator ("Conservator") of P&S Associates, General 

Partnership ("P&S") and S&P Associates, General Partnership ("S&P", together with P&S, the 

"Partnerships", with the Conservator, the "Plaintiffs"), by and through his undersigned counsel, 

hereby submits Plaintiffs' Response to Avellino's Third Set of Interrogatories. 

Messana, P.A. 
Attorneys for Conservator 
401 East Las Olas, Suite 1400 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33303 
Telephone: (954) 712-7400 
Facsimile: (954) 712-7401 
tmessana@messana-law.com 
By: /s/ Thomas M. Messana 

Thomas M. Messana 
Florida Bar No. 0991422 

EXHIBIT 



-

A&B's counsel during the SEC investigation, referred to A&B's records as "phantom 
books". The SEC report also indicates that Bien es claimed that A&B repaid a loan to 
Chemical Bank to avoid explaining the investment strategy to Chemical Bank. A&B also 
objected to the SEC's interrogatories and refused to provide Madofrs name as the 
underlying broker in response to the discovery requests. Further, the records concerning 
the SEC investigation of Avellino and Bienes indicates that once the SEC started to 
investigate the facts and circumstances of BLMIS, Bien es and Avellino cooperated. 

Additionally, Avellino and Bienes were aware that their investments with Madoff did not 
have a loss for thirty years and that BLMIS was utilizing an inappropriately small 
accounting firm for such large brokerage operation. Avellino and Bienes were aware that 
Madoff refused to utilize a larger firm in favor of having a single accountant service the 
BLMIS account. 

Michael D. Sullivan - Sullivan was the managing general partner of the Partnerships. It is 
believed that Sullivan has knowledge related to the Partnerships formation, investment 
with BLMIS, and how access was obtained to invest with BLMIS. 

Michael Bien es - Bienes has been associated with Avellino in numerous entities which 
invested with BLMIS for several decades. It is believed that Bienes has knowledge related 
to the process for investing with BLMIS, the limited ability to invest with BLMIS, and the 
Partnerships' decision to invest with BLMIS. 

8. With respect to Your allegations m Paragraph 31 of the Third Amended 
Complaint "Avellino, Bienes and Sullivan reached an agreement whereby Avellino and Bienes 
would receive monies in connection with individuals and/or entities who Avellino and/or Bienes 
caused to invest in ... the Partnerships,'' please state with specificity all facts supporting Your 
allegations with regard to Avellino. In Your answer, please identify all documents that support 
Your allegations and the name(s) and contact information (address, telephone number, etc.) of 
any person(s) with knowledge of the facts that support Your allegations. With respect to each 
such person You identify, please describe the subject matter of such person's knowledge. 

ANSWER: 

See response to Interrogatory No. 1. and Interrogatory Number 6. 

Every year the Partnerships' management fee ledger contained information concerning 
fees which were accrued or paid to Avellino or Bienes. Moreover, Avellino admitted to 
receiving "referral fees" in response to Plaintiffs' First Set of Interrogatories. The 
management fees or commissions that accrued to the benefit of Avellino and Bien es 
constituted half of the management fees that Sullivan was to receive based on the accounts 
which Avellino and Bien es referred. 



VERIFICATION 

I have read the foregoing a11swers to the above Interro:gatories and do swear under oath 
and penalty of pe1jury that they are true and correct. 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY QF o@Wfl\(.W 

S&P ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNERSHIP 
P&S ASSOCIATE ERAL_P ARTNERSHIP 

The foregoing i11Strumentwas acknowledged before me this \Q1hday of Y\)}&Yib()' 
______ · ____ . 2014, by Philip J. Von Kahle, as Conservator of S&P General 
Associates, General Partn9rship, . and. P&S Associates, General Part1:ersh~p~ ~ho is 
-----,--------:-:./-..:..;e.:.:rs:..::o-=n:=:al:..:..ly'-kn=o:..o.w""'n;;...;t'"""o..::.:n=1e or_has produced_as identification and 
who did/did not take an oath. 

G1$EU..E CROMBIE 

•

NOTARYPUSUC 
S··.TATE Of FLORIDA 
Comm# EE081838 

. Explt'eS 4/612015 

(seal) 

J6~1io~~ 
~yPulJlic 
(Pnntor Type Nan1e): 0\'SQ..\ \ Q. Q.JOi"il\?~ Q 
My Commission 
Expires: L.! \ {J \ t 5 



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE 
SEVENTEENTH mDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, 
FLORIDA 

PHILIP J. VON KAHLE, as Conservator of 
P&S Associates, General Partnership and 
S&P Associates, General Partnership 

Case No. 12-034123 (07) 
Complex Litigation Unit 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et al., 

Defendants. 

PLAINTIFF, CONSERVATOR PIDLIP J. VON KAHLE'S, SUPPLEMENTAL 
RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT MICHAEL BIENES' FIRST SET OF 

INTERROGATORIES TO PLAINTIFF 

Plaintiff, Philip J. Von Kahle as Conservator of P&S Associates, General Partnership 

("P&S") and S&P Associates, General Partnership ("S&P", together with P&S, the 

"Partnerships") ("Conservator") by and through undersigned counsel, hereby submits his 

supplemental responses to Defendant, Michael Bienes ("Bienes" or "Defendant") his First 

Set of Interrogatories to Plaintiff, Philip J. Von Kahle, as Conservator of P&S General 

Partnership and S&P General Partnership ("Plaintiff'). 

OBJECTIONS 

All responses of the Plaintiff to Bienes' Interrogatories are made subject to and without waiving 

these objections common to all interrogatories. 

1. The Plaintiff objects to each and every interrogatory to the extent they call for the 

proprietary, confidential, and/or financial information of the Partnerships and/or a non-party. 

2. The Plaintiff objects to the extent the Interrogatories impose a duty to supplement not 

required by the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. 

EXHIBIT 



5. Please state with specificity all facts supporting Your allegations in Paragraph 
24 of the Amended Complaint, as they relate to Bienes, that Bienes and the other named 
Defendants received "over $8 million dollars in kickbacks from Sullivan disguised as 
commissions, management fees, gifts, and/or 'charitable contributions' in return for soliciting 
investors for one or both of the Partnerships ... . " In Your answer, please identify all documents 
that support Your allegations and the name(s) of any person(s) with knowledge of the facts 
that support Your allegations. With respect to each such person You identify, please describe 
the subject matter of such person's knowledge. 

ANSWER: 

The Plaintiff objects to the extent that the information sought is in Bienes' possession or 
could be more easily obtained through other parties or sources. Plaintiff objects to this 
interrogatory to the extent that it seeks information that is privileged by statute or common 
law, including attorney work product and privileged communications between attorney and 
client, or settlement communications. The Plaintiff responds: 

See response to Interrogatory Number 2. Additionally, documents are being provided in 
response to Bienes' request for production. Plaintiffs' agreement to produce documents 
which may be responsive to this request for production does not constitute an admission that 
such documents are relevant to the instant proceedings or that they may be used in evidence. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing objections, Plaintiffs have agreed to produce the following 
documents which may be responsive to this request for production. Specifically, Plaintiffs 
are willing to produce documents whose bates numbers include, but are not limited to: 

• Journals - MB00002RTP - MBOOOOSRTP; MB00012RTP - MB00019RTP. 
• Management Fee Records - MBOOOOSRTP - MBOOOlORTP; MB00025RTP -

MB00089RTP. 
• Checks to Bienes - MB00006RTP 

Additional bates numbers which reflect fees paid to others include, but are not limited to: 
• MB00337RTP - MB02007RTP. Documents in this grouping include the..Partnerships 

spreadsheets and checks. 

It is believed that individuals who possess knowledge responsive to this interrogatory are: 

• Michael D. Sullivan who is believed to have knowledge related to why transfers were 
characterized in a particular manner. 

• Frank Avellino who was Michael Bienes' former partner and was involved in the 
foregoing schemes. 

• Vincent T. Kelly, who received management fees which were improperly designated as 
"Charitable Contributions" 

6. Please state with specificity all facts supporting Your allegation in Paragraph 
27 of the Amended Complaint, as it relates to Bienes, that Bienes and the other Defendants 
"ensured that Sullivan, through entities he exclusively controlled, made distributions to the 
Kickback Defendants that were in violation of the Partnership Agreements." In Your answer, 
please identify all documents that support Your allegation and the name( s) and contact 
information (address, telephone number,. etc.) of any person( s) with knowledge of the facts that 
support Your allegation. With respect to each such person You identify, please describe the 
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subject matter .of such person's knowledge. 

ANSWER: 

The Plaintiff objects to the extent that the information sought is in Bienes' possession or 
could be more easily obtained through other parties or sources. Plaintiff objects to this 
interrogatory to the extent that it seeks information that is privileged by statute or common 
law, including attorney work product and privileged communications between attorney and 
client, or settlement communications. The Plaintiff responds: 

See response to Interrogatory Number 2. Additionally, the documents reflect that certain 
transfers were made from Michael D. Sullivan & Assoc. Further, documents are being 
provided in response to Bienes' request for production. 
Plaintiffs' agreement to produce documents which may be responsive to this request for 
production does not constitute an admission that such documents are relevant to the instant 
proceedings or that they may be used in evidence. Notwithstanding the foregoing objections, 
Plaintiffs have agreed to produce the following documents which may be responsive to this 
request for production. Specifically, Plaintiffs are willing to produce documents whose 
bates numbers include, but are not limited to: 

• Journals-MB00002RTP-MB00005RTP; MB00012RTP-MB00019RTP. 
• Management Fee Records - MB00008RTP - MBOOOlORTP; MB00025RTP -

MB00089RTP. 
• Checks to Bienes - MB00006RTP 
• Bank Statements-MB00096RTP-MB00223RTP. 

Plaintiffs have also produced documents which include, but are not limited to: 

• MB00337RTP- MB02007RTP. Documents in this grouping include the Partnerships 
spreadsheets and checks. 

It is believed that individuals who possess knowledge responsive to this interrogatory are: 

Michael D. Sullivan who is believed to have knowledge related to which entities were used to 
transfer funds to the Commissions Defendants as defined in the Second Amended 
Complaint. 

Plaintiffs object to this interrogatory because it exceeds the amount alJowed by the Florida 
Rules of Civil Procedure. However, Plaintiffs have responded to this interrogatory as a 
result of Defendant's attempts to obstruct their efforts to obtain discovery, without waiving 
the right to later object to and strike their response to this interrogatory. 

7. Please state with specificity all facts supporting Your allegation in Paragraph 
28(b) of the Amended Complaint that "Bienes received $357,790.84 in Kickbacks." In Your 
answer, please identify all documents that support Your allegation and the name(s) and 
contact information (address, telephone number, etc.) of any person(s) with knowledge of 
the facts that support Your allegation. With respect to ea.ch such person You identify, please 
describe the subject matter of such person's knowledge. 

ANSWER: 

9 



Objection. The Plaintiff objects to the extent that the information sought is in Bienes' 
possession or could be more easily obtained through other parties or sources. Management 
Fees is an undefined term, so the Plaintiff will respond utilizing the meaning of the term as 
used in the Second Amended Complaint filed in the above-styled action. Further, Plaintiff 
objects as discovery has only recently begun and the Conservator is still investigating certain 
claims, and the majority of documents and other information which are necessary to answer 
this interrogatory are in the possession of third parties and/or Bienes and have not yet been 
produced to the Plaintiff. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory to the extent that it seeks 
information that is privileged by statute or common law, including attorney work product 
and privileged communications between attorney and client, or settlement communications. 
The Plaintiff responds: 

Bienes or an entity controlled by him received a 50% share of the following distributions by 
year: 

Date Accrued Amount Method of Payment 
2000 $1,395.36 (P&S); $1,990.98 Check 

(S&P) 
2001 $39,12.11 (P&S); $41,47.57 Check 

(S&P) 
2002 $54,650.25 (P&S); Check 

$48,614.39 (S&P) 
2003 $58,428.61(P&S); $42,411.17 Check 

(S&P) 
2004 (calculation) $59,257.3(P&S); $52,954.53 

(S&P) 
2005( calculation) $57,812.85 (P&S); 

$41,164.36 (S&P) 
2006 $107,398.94 (P&S); Check 

$55,834. 78 (S&P) 
2007 $73,351.06 (P&S); Check 

$52,257.42 (S&P) 

Additionally, documents are being produced which are responsive to this request. These 
docume_nts include bank statements and printouts from a software program which the 
Partnerships utilized. Bates numbers for responsive documents include, 

Plaintiffs' agreement to produce documents which may be responsive to this request for 
production does not constitute an admission that such documents are relevant to the instant 
proceedings or that they may be used in evidence. Notwithstanding the foregoing objections, 
Plaintiffs have agreed to produce the following documents which may be responsive to this 
request for production. Specifically, Plaintiffs are willing to produce documents whose 
bates numbers include, but are not limited to: 

• Journals - MB00002RTP - MB00005RTP; MB00012RTP - MB00019RTP. 
• Management Fee Records - MB00008RTP - MBOOOlORTP; MB00025RTP -

MB00089RTP. 
• Checks to Bienes -MB00006RTP 
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VERIFICATION 

l have read the foregoing answers to the ,above foterrogatorfos and do swear under 
oath and penalty of perjury that they are true ahd correct 

STATEOFFLORIDA 
COUNTY OF Q'>P:o\N'8J2-_j; 

Thefo:~going instrument was acknowledged before methis~y o\ t?fi~ 
2014, by fh1hp J. Von Kahle, as Conservator of S&P General /Associates, General 
Partnership, and P&S Associates, General Partnership, who is JL{ personally known to 
me or has produced aside11tification and who did/did not take an oath; · 

~ ·No~· 
(Print or Type Name): 
My Commission Expires: 

(seal) 

5581524'1 



Re: 

CIRCUIT COURT OF TIIE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT, 
IN AND FOR BROW ARD COUN1Y, FLORIDA 

P&S ASSOCIAIBS, GENERAL PARTNERSHIP 
AND S&P ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNERSIDP CASE NO.: 12-028324(07) 

EXPERT REPORT OF 
BARRY MUK.AMAL, CPAIPFS/ABV/CFE/CFF 

November 11, 2013 

EXHIBIT · 
bCompos rfe-
1 1 



Our observations are as follows: 

o We were able to recreate the calculation of the management fees based on 20% of the 

gains/losses recordeds by the managing general partners on the P&S Annual Partner 

Statements, with the following exceptions: for 2003 Partner (Cong of the Holy Spirit 

Western Province Inc.) did not have management fees reported in the amount of $103 

and for 2008 partner Moss was charged 10% management fees :instead of 20%. 

o The total amount actually paid for management fees during the period from 1993 'through 

2008 ("Review Period'~ in the amount of $3,178,451.97 listed on the P&S Management 

Fees Paid List is $34,252.61 greater than the amount that should have been paid under the 

calculation by P&S managing general partners on the P&S Quarterly Management Fee 

Calculations and on the P&S Annual Partner Statements in the amount of $3,144,1_9936 

(see Exh.toit2).6 

o P&S paid a portion of the 20% management fee directly to Kelco Foundation (total paid 

from 1993 ~2008 is $744,799), which fees were reported by P&S on its tax returns as 

charitable donations. The balance of the management fees were paid to Powell and 

Sullivan until Powell's death in August, 2003~ and to Michael D. Sullivan & Assotjs:t:es 

from September 2003 forward. 

o Each of the P&S Quarterly Management Fee Calculations (as prepared by the managing 

general partner(s)) indicate amounts earmarked for/or to be paid to" A&B''. Moecker has 

informed us 1hat based on. their review of the P&S books and records and other records 

related to Powell and/or Sullivan's other entities. A&B refers to Frank J. Avellino 

("Avellino") and Michael S. Bienes ("Bienes"), parties prohl'bited by the SEC to 

participate in the sale of securities. 1 

o Although Article 2.02 of the P&S Partnership Agreement stated that the general purpose 

of the partnership was to invest, in cash or on. margin, in all types of marketpl.a.ce 

securities, during the Review Period and especially beginning in 2003, P&S did not remit 

all capital contnbutions received from its Partners for new investments. Instead P&S 

retained significant monies, as tabulated below. 

5 Although certain gains were recorded by the Parlllel'ship, as previously discussed, as a consequence of exclusively 
investing in a Ponzi scheme, the Partnership recorded profits stomming solely from investments in MadofE 

6 For purposes of comparing the management fees paid to the management fees ca1crulat.ed, we used the management 
fees cafoulated by the managing general partners on the P&S Annual Partner Statemen~ 

7 Although we identified that funds were being earmarked or paid to Avellino and Bienes from the P&S Quarterly 
Management Fee Calculations, investigation of amounts paid to Avellino and Bienes was beyond the scope of our 
engagement 
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S&P Associates, General Partnership 
P&S Associates, General Partnership 

EXHIBIT 1 

Documents Relied Upon 

I. S&P Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement, dated December 21, 1994 
2. P&S Associates GP Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement, dated December 21, 1994 

3. Conservators Motion for Summary Judgment To: (i) Approve Determination Of Claims, (ii) 
Approve Plan of Distribution, And (iii) Establish Objection Procedure 
4. Complaint filed by Margaret J. Smith, et al v. Michael D. Sullivan et al,. on December 10, 2012 
5. Spreadsheets prepared by Moecker based on ana.lysis of S&P and P &S records: 

a List ofS&P andP&S checks for the payment ofmanagementfees 
b. List of checks from S&P and P&S to Bernard Mad.off Investment Securities, LLC (n:sMIS") 
c. List of deposits to S&P and P&S from BMIS 

6. Spreadsheets prepared by Moecker that summarize information reported by S&P and P &S on 
partner annual statements as follows: 

a Annual summary by genoral partner of each general partners capital account beginning 
balance, new investments, management fees, expenses, gain (loss) and ending capital balance. 
b. Cash-In Cash-Out annual total by partner and resulting net cash .investment 

7. S&P Tax Returns for the years encling 1993 through 2008 
8. P&S Tax Returns for the years ending 1993 through 2008 

9. S&P general ledgers, bank registerst :financial statenwnts and trial balances for certain periods 
during 1997 through 2008. 
I 0. P&S general ledgers, bank registers, financial statements and trial balances for certain periods 
during 1997 througb.2008. 
11. S&P monthly accounting files for the period of 1993 through 2008 
12. P&S monthly accounting files for the.period of 1993 through 2008 
13. S&P reports from B.MIS titled "Portfolio Management Report" for each year end 12/31 from 
1993 through 2008 
14. P &S reports from BM.IS titled "Portfolio Management Report" for each year end 12/31 from 
1993 through 2008 
15. S&P quarterly management fee calculations prepared by managing general partner 
16. P &S quarterly management fee calculations prepared by managing general partner 
17. S&P Annual Partners Statements for 2008 
18. Conversations with Moecker associates 
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IN TIIE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 17th 
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR 
BROW ARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 12-034123 (07) 

P & S ASSOCIATES GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP, etc. et al., 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

STEVEN JACOB, et al. 

Defendants. 

DECLARATION OF MARGARET J. SMITH 

1. I, Margaret J. Smith, am above the legal age of majority and otherwise competent 

to make this affidavit I make this affidavit of my own personal knowledge, except where 

otherwise indicated. 

2. I am a Certified Public Accountant and a principal with the advisory firm of 

GlassRatncr Advisory and Capital Group, LLC ("'GlassRatner''). Non-managing partners of 

P&S Associates, General Partnership ("P&Sj and S&P Associates, General Partnership 

("S&.Pt" collectively the "Partnerships'') ·retained GlassRatner to investigate certain matters 

concerning the operation and management of the Partnerships. On August 17, 2012, the partners 

of S&P and P&S held a meeting at which the Partnerships' former Managing General Partner; 

Michael D. Sullivan ("Sullivan"), was replaced, and I was elected Managing General Partner in 

his stead. 

3. The transfers made to Avellino and Bienes were not reflected in the banking 

records for the Partnerships, and those transfers could only be verified through the banking 

EXHIBIT 

7158404·1 



: · 1 
i 

CASENO.: 12-034123 (07) 

records of Michael D. Sullivan related companies, including but not limited Michael D. Sullivan 

& Associates, Inc. which were received in May 2012. 

4. Sullivan challenged my election as Managing General Partner until January, 2013t 

when the Conservator was appointed. Among other actions, the Partnerships, fonner counsel, 

Helen Chaitman, Esq., who was previously retained by Sullivan to represent the Partnerships, 

withheld Partnership funds from me, after I was Managing General Partner. 

5. Within four years after the public disclosure of the Madoff Ponzi scheme, I 

directed Berger Singerman, LLP to initiate the above captioned lawsuit on December 10, 2012, 

despite the met that Helen Chaitman was still withholding Partnership funds from me in violation 

of a Court Order. 

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have read the foregoing and that the facts stated in it 

are true. 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 17th 
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR 
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 12-034123 (07) 

P & S ASSOCIATES GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP, etc. et al., 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

STEVEN JACOB, et al. 

Defendants. 

AFFIDAVIT OF BARRY MUKAMAL 

STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
.SS 

COUNTY OF BROW ARD ) 

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally appeared Barry Mukamal, who 

deposes and states: 

1. I, Barry Mukamal, am above the legal age of majority and otherwise competent to 

make this affidavit. I make this affidavit of my own personal knowledge, except where otherwise 

indicated. 

2. On November 1, 2013, I was retained by legal counsel for Phillip J. Von Kahle, as 

Conservator (the "Conservator") of P &S Associates, General Partnership ("P &S") and S&P 

Associates, General Partnership ("S&P") (S&P and P&S are collectively the "Partnerships") to 

provide an opinion as to whether P&S and S&P were managed in accordance with the provisions 

of their respective partnership agreements, and to determine whether amounts with respect to new 

investments and distributions utilized by the Conservator in the calculation of distributions using the 

EXHIBIT 
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Net Investment Method were generally reliable. A copy of the expert report I drafted in 

conjunction with that engagement is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

3. As identified in Exlubit A, cash deficiencies in the Partnerships due to the 

improper payment of partnership distributions and management fees were funded by certain 

capital contributions received by the Partnerships. I did not see any Partnership records which 

indicate, or would have notified partners in the Partnerships, that their distributions were funded 

by capital contributions of other partners. 

4. My engagement with Phillip J. Von Kahle was expanded in 2014 to include an 

analysis as to whether Sullivan received management fees in compliance with the Partnership 

Agreements of the Partnerships. A copy of the expert report I drafted is attached hereto as 

Exhibit B. 

5. As set forth in Exhibit B, the Partnerships improperly transferred money invested 

by Partners as capital contributions to Sullivan/Powell as management fees. 

6. A review of the books and records of the Partnerships did not reveal that Avellino 

and Bienes receivea any distributions,. commissions or payments from the Partnerships. I am 

informed that Sullivan thereafter improperly transferred funds he received from the Partnerships 

to Avellino and Bienes from Michael D. Sullivan & Associates own accounts. · 

7. Moreover, a review of the records of the Partnerships also reveals that an 

improper transfer of Partnership funds occurred on December 15, 2008. That transfer consisted 

of a $20,000 payment from P&S to Michael D. Sullivan and Associates, Inc., and was improper 

because, among other reasons, Madoffwas ·arrested on December 11, 2008 and the Partnerships 

did not have any capital as a result of the discovery of the BLMIS fraud. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
.SS 

COUNTY OF BROWARD ) 

FURTHER AFFIANT SA YETH NA UGI-IT. 

B~ 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 2~ot'- day of July, 2016 by 
Barry Mukamal .who is personally known to me or has ·produced as identification 

and did/did not take an oath. 
~~~~~~~~~~ 
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Michael Sullivan Vol 1 
March 08, 2016 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL 
CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

CASE NO.: 12-34123(07) 

.P&S ASSOCIATES, GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP, a Florida limited 
partnership, et al., 

COPY 
Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

STEVEN JACOB, et al., 

Defendants. 

DEPOSITION OF 

MICHAEL SULLIVAN 

VOLUME 1 of 1 
Pages 1 through 166 

Tuesday, March 8th, 2016 
9:30 a.m. - 2:28 p.m. 

BERGER SINGERMAN, LLP 
350 East Las Olas Boulevard 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 

Stenographically Reporte.d By: 
Ashley C. Nehme, FPR 

Florida Professional Reporter 
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EXHIBIT 

I 6 

EXHIBIT 



1 A. 

2 Q. 

Michael Sullivan Vol 1 
March 08, 2016 

Pardon me? 

Mr. Sullivan, can you identify what I just 

3 marked as Exhibit 3? 

4 A. Yeah, it's a document that looks -- I can 

5 identify it . It's a P&S Management Fee Calculation. 

6 That's what the top of it says. 

7 Q. And these P&S Management Fee Calculations, 

8 were these - were these documents belonging to 

9 Michael D. Sullivan & Associates or Michael 

10 Sullivan? 

11 A. I do not know . 

12 Q. Okay. So you don't know whether these 

13 were gathered from Michael D. Sullivan or your 

14 personal computers? 

15 A. It looks like something I would have 

16 produced, but whether this particular document is 

17 among those I do not know . I don ' t have my records 

18 ~o tell you. 

19 Q. In terms of the management fee calculation 

20 that were made . 

21 A. Yes . 

22 Q. Were those calculations done on the books 

23 and records of Michael D. Sullivan & Associates or 

24 Sullivan & Powell or Solution & Tax on the one hand, 

25 or were they in the books and records of P&S or S&P 

U.S. LEGAL SUPPORT 
(954) 463-2933 
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Michael Sullivan Vol 1 
March 08, 2016 

1 on the other hand? 

2 A. I'm not sure. 

3 Q. Okay. Now, let's just -- I just want to 

4 go over a couple of these sheets with you, if I can. 

5 A. Sure. 

6 Q. This is for 2002. 

7 A . Uh-huh . 

8 Q. So at the bottom here it says Kelco 

9 clients and year-to - date management fees. Do you 

10 see that? 

11 A. Can you point to that. 

12 Q. I'm sorry, in the lower column. 

13 A. Oh, yes. Yes, yes, yes. 

14 Q. It has year-to-date management fees for 

15 Kelco and that totals $90,473.25, correct? 

16 A. That's what it says . 

17 Q. And that would be one half of your 

18 management fee would be, therefore, payable. to Kelco 

19 for the clients that Kelco brought into the. 

20 partnership; is that true? 

21 A. That's what it appears, yes. 

22 Q. Okay . So there's a total of 90,473.25 of 

23 which 45,236 . 62 would go to Kelco, correct? 

24 A. 

25 Q. 

Correct. 

And then in the upper right-hand corner . 

U . S . LEGAL SUPPORT 
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1 A. 

2 Q. 

3 A. 

4 Q. 

Michael Sullivan Vol 1 
March 08, 2016 

Just point if you could. 

Sure. Right.there. 

Yes. 

It looks like the payments were actually 

5 made pursuant to these four checks showing 45,236.63 

6 paid and no balance due to them, correct? 

7 A. That's what it shows. 

8 Q. And here in the next column it shows gross 

9 fees year to date per Sullivan & Powell in 2002 of 

10 193,946.75, correct? 

A. 11 That's what it says on this paper. 

12 And who did these calculations? Q. 

A. 13 All depends on the year. 

14 In 2002 who would have been doing them? Q. 

A. 15 I can't remember when my partner passed 

16 away. 

17 But prior to Mr. Powell's death, did Q. 

18 Mr. Powell handle this part of the business? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. After he passed away who handled it? 

21 A. Susan Moss. 

22 Q. Under your supervision? 

23 A. Absolutely. 

24 Q. So now we have under the Sullivan & Powell 

25 calculation. 

U.S. LEGAL SUPPORT 
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1 Q. 

Michael Sullivan Vol 1 
March 08, 2016 

So M.D. Sullivan now would get 20 percent 

2 instead of the 10 percent, right? 

3 A. Correct. 

4 Q. And when you said you made decisions in 

5 terms of what to do with the money, did you make any 

6 decisions concerning paying Bette Anne Powell or any 

7 of their partner's kids? 

8 A. Correct. 

9 Q. And what was that decision? 

10 A. I don't remember. I think I gave her 

11 around 5,000 a month and paid other bills, like 

12 health insurance and other things. 

13 Q. And the records of Michael D. Sullivan & 

14 Associates, I mean, I asked about the computers, 

15 right? 

16 A. Uh-huh. 

17 Q. And of course, you wouldn't let the 

18 partners in. But the actual records of Michael D 

19 Sullivan & Associates, those were not made available 

20 to partners either, right? 

2.1 A. I have no idea who had seen it. All the 

22 books and records were together, if someone wanted 

23 to come in and inspect the books, all my records 

24 were there. 

25 Q. For Michael D, Sullivan & Associates? 

U.S. LEGAL SUPPORT 
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1 A. 

2 to see it. 

3 Q. 

Michael Sullivan Vol 1 
March os, 2016 

The book was right next it if they wanted 

My question is · that if someone wanted to 

4 come in and see the books of Michael D. Sullivan & 

5 Associates, they could have come in and see those, 

6 okay? I'm not talking about S&P and P&S, I'm 

7 talking about the Michael D. Sullivan & Associates . 

B A. My book was right next to all the books. 

9 Q. Okay. You're not aware of anyone actually 

10 looking at the Michael D. Sullivan & Associates 

11 records, are you? 

12 A. I wouldn't have any idea. 

13 Q. And there was one point in time when 

14 certain books and records got copied and sent over 

15 to an accountant, correct? Are you familiar at a 

16 point in time when one or more of the partners 

17 obtained certain copies of the S&P or P&S records? 

18 A. I don't know what you're referring to. 

19 Could you 

20 Q. Yeah, okay. Was there ever a point in 

21 time where the Festus Foundation and perhaps others 

22 obtained certain copies of the book s and records of 

23 S&P and P&S? 

24 A. Well, they wanted the records brought over 

25 with a third party to look at. 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE l 7m JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA, 
IN AND FOR BROW ARD COUNTY 

P&S ASSOCIATES, GENERAL 
P AR1NERSHIP, etc., et al., 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et al., 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.: 12-034123 (07) 

I 

AFFIDAVIT OF STEVEN JACOB 

STATE OF FLORIDA } 

COUNTY OF BROW ARD } 
ss: 

Steven Jacob, being duly sworn deposes and says: 

1. I am a defendant in this action together with Steven F. Jacob CPA & Associates, 

Inc., a Florida corporation. I submit this affidavit in support of defendants, Frank Avellino 

("Avellino") and Michael Bienes' ("Bienes") Motion for Summary Judgment as to Count IV of 

the Fifth Amended Complaint. The allegations set forth herein are based upon my personal 

knowledge. 

2. I am advised that an issue in connection with the summary judgment motion is 

when partners of the plaintiff partnerships, P&S Associates, General Partnership ("P&S") and 

S&P Associates, General Partnership ("S&P") (collectively, the "Partnerships"), knew or could 

reasonably have discovered that payments which were originated from the Partnerships were 

made to Avellino and Bienes. 

A435.00l/0044387ll 'll EXHIBIT 



... 

3. I have sublet an office space in the same space as the Partnerships since 2004. In 

connection with my accounting practice I have acted as a trustee and financial advisor for 

various clients. In or about 1997, I became aware through Michael Sullivan, the then managing 

partner of the Partnerships, of the Partnerships' investment with Bernard L. Madoff Investment 

Securities, LLC ("BLMIS") . .After conducting an investigation of this investment opportunity,! 

provided clients of mine the opportunity to invest in the Partnerships. 

4. In connection with my clients' investments in the Partnerships, for the time period 

1998 through 2008, lregularly reviewed the books and records of the Partnerships which, at all 

times were in the offices of the Partnerships and available for review and inspection by me . and 

all partners of the Partnerships. 

5. The partnership agreements for the Partnerships provided that the managing 

partners were entitled to 20% of the profits from the Partnerships' investments, which were 

referred to as the "Management fees". At some point in time, Michael Sullivan and Gregg 

Powell, who was a managing partner with Michael Sullivan until his death in 2003, began to pay 

a portion of their 20% profits to certain partners and others. Ap roximately ten individuals, 

including me, received such payments. Frank Avellino anclMichael Bienes also received such 

payments. 

6. The majority of the Mana~ment fees owed to Michael Sullivan were aid by the 

Partnership.s to him through payments to Michael D. Sullivan & Associates ("MDS"), an entity 

formed by Michael Sullivan ana from which Michael Sullivan made the payments to the others 

with whom he shared a portion of his Management fees. The books and records of the 

Partnerships reflected the payments Michael Suliivan made ofa portion of his Management fees 
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o others through MDS, including the payments to Avellino and Bienes. These records were 

mamtained both electronically on the Partnerships' computers and also in hard copy. 

7. The payment of a portion of the Management fees to others were reflected in 

several places in the Partnerships' books and records. Every investor received regular statements 

on their account which included a line item of''Management Fee Expense." An example of such 

a statement is the S&P statement to Ersica P. Gianna, dated April 19, 1999, a copy of which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit "A". Additionally, each partner who received a payment ofa portion 

of the Management fees received a statement reflecting the calculation of such fees that 

accompanied the payment. An example .of such a statement is the statement for Abraham 

Newman, which is attached hereto as Exhibit "B". Account statements were also maintained for 

each investor which reflected the Mami.gement fees paid. An example of such statements is P&S 

account statement for investors/partners, Edith and Sam Rosen, attached hereto as Exhibit "'C". 

8. Other records of the Partnerships also included the payment of the Management 

fees of those who received such fees. For example, a record of Management fees paid to 

Avellino and Bienes is attached hereto as Exhibit "D". This record, which specifically · dentifies 

the payment ·of Management fees to Avellino and Bienes, was included in records maintained by 

tlie Partnerships, available for inspection by any partner and observed by me from my review of 

the Partnerships' books and records. 

9. The records reflecting the calculation of the Management fees paid to others were 

also contained in the books and records of the Partnerships. An example of such records is the 

2005 Management Fees Calculation attached hereto as Exhibit "E". 

MJS.001/00443870 •I 3 



10. After the death of Gregg Powell, Susan Moss was a part time bookkeeper who 

assisted in maintaining the books and records .of the Partnerships. Ms. Moss was assisted by the 

Partnerships' outside accountant, Michael Kuzy. On occasions 1 would answer questions and 

provide assistance to Ms. Moss when she requested. 

11. Aside from the Partnerships' records that reflected the Management fee payments 

to Avellino and Bienes being available at all times for inspection by the partners, I am aware that 

partners .of the Partnerships actually inspected the Partnerships' records. In the Fall of 2008, 

P,atrick Kelly, acting on behalf of the Festus & Helen Stacy Foundation, Inc. (the "Foundation"), 

which was an investor and a partner in the Partnerships, together with Susan Davis, the CPA for 

the Foundation, visited the Partnerships' offices and reviewed the books and records. Ms. Davis 

had previously reviewed the Partnerships' books and records years earlier. I did not actually 

observe what records they chose to review but all of the Partnerships' records, including those 

that reflected Management fee pqyrnents to Avellino and Bienes, were among the Partnerships' 

ecords available for their inspection. After such inspection, Mr. Kelly and Michael Sullivan had 

a discussion about the payment of Management fees, at which I was present. Michael Sullivan 

told Mi'. Kelly ·of his sharing of Management fees with others, including Avellino and Bienes, 

and Mr. Kelly expressed an interest in having other Clients of his invest in the Partnerships, as 

well as in whether he could be a .recipient of such fees. 

12. In December 2008, the BLMIS Ponzi scheme was made public. At that time, 

Michael Sullivan had been out of the office for lmee replacement surgery and unable to address 

the multiple issues that arose as a result of such debacle. I agreed to assist in responding to the 

numerous calls from the partners and thereafter, assist in compiling the records to support the 
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Partnersh.ips' claims filed with Mr. Picard, the BLMIS trustee. I also assisted in compiling 

information for the partners to enable them to file individual claims. I also helped in compiling 

records of the Partnerships in response to a documentrequest from the SEC. 

13. In November, 2011, the Foundation insisted and directed that the records of the 

Partnerships be provided to .Ali Ansari, an accountant the Foundation retained to conduct a 

forensic audit of the Partnerships. Ineluded in the vecords provided Mr. Ansari were the records 

described above which reflected the payment of Management fees to others, including Avellino 

and Bienes. I am not aware whether an audit was ever conducted. Had a review of the records 

been conducted, the payment of Management fees to Avellino, Bienes and others would have 

been readily ascertained. I was advised that in May, 2012, the records that were previously 

provided to Mr. Ansari were turned over to the Berger Singerman law firm. Nevertheless, the 

accountant on behalf of the Foundation was in actual possession of the Partnership records, 

including those which reflected the payment of Management fees to Avellino and Bienes, as far 

back as November, 2011. This is confirmed by the undated letter sent to the partners by Brett 

Stepelton, a principal of the Foundation, and others in the summer of 2012, a copy of which is 

attachea hereto as Exhibit "F". While the letter complains of not receiving the electronic 

records, it states that the documents that were provided (which were the documents provided to 

Mr. Ansari in November, 2011) " ... indicate that.Mr. Sullivan paid management fees to Frank 

Avellino and Michael Bienes ... ". 

14. After Michael Sullivan was removed as managing partner of the Partnerships, 

there were several claims made, including those from the Conservator who was appointed to 
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liquidate the Partnerships, that records of the Partnerships were not disclosed or provided. I am 

not aware of what records were claimed not to have been provided but I do know that the records 

that were provided contained the records described above which reflected the Management fee 

payments to Avellino and Bienes. 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF BROW ARD 

Steven Jacob 

Sworn to and subscribed before me tltls ~ay of December, 2016, by Steven Ja~, 
who is: 

My Commission Expires: 
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Dear Partner; 

Many of you are in receipt of m August 3, 2012 lettflr ftom Michael D. Sullivan, the current 
Managing Gene:nil Partner of S&P Associates and P&S Associates (together, the "Partnerships"). 
In that letter, Mr. Sullivan argues that changing the Managing General Partner at this lime is no1 
pTOductive and would be a~ of the Partnerships' resouxccs. 

It is not surprising that Mr. Sullivan bas taken this position. ror ihe better part of the past two 
years, a group of investors who collectively lost millions of dollars of their investments in the 
Pllrtnerships have sought more inf'onnation from Mr. Sullivan concerning his management of the 
Partnerships. Each Part!l.er has the right 1o ask for this basic information pursuant to the terms of 
the Partnership Agreements. Among other things, we have sought complete copies of the 
general ledger& and banking reoords 8$ well as ell electronic accounting records fur U1e 

Partnerships. To date, and despite repeated reqnests, electronic accounting records pertaining to 
the Partnerships have not been received. Instead. Mr. Sullivan provided these Partnen: with a 
collection of disorganized boxes of filei; which allegedly constituted the entirety of the 
Partnerships' books 11nd rccorcls.. 

Putting aside the troubling fact th.at Mr. Sullivari apparently cannot access the electronic records 
maintafued for the Partnerships, a review of the boxes of Partn=hlp files have revealed the 
following significant concerns. It is important to .note that 1hese findings ate based on a 
preliminary re\liew of tb.e documen!s, which :findings may or may not ultimately prove correct 
following a comprehensive analysis of 1he books and records: 

• The documents indicate tbaf Mr. Sullivan paid management fees to Frank A vellum and 
Michael Bicnes, two individuals who :have been prohibited by the Securities and 
.EXchange Commission from participating in the sale of secnrities. The documents 
indicate that Mr. Avellino was given a significant, and :inappropriate, level of control ove: 
the Partnerships.. Indeed, in a lav.'SUit filed 'qy the Trustee fur the Liquidafun ofBemard 
L. Madoff Investment Securities, llC ("BLMJS"), the Trustee alleges that despite the 
prohibition imposed by the SEC, Mr. Avellino and :Mr. Biem;:, foUDd people such as Mr. 
Sullivan who were willing 1o act 11& "front men to operate partnerships so that they could 
continue to raise and pool money from others to invest with BLM1S but avoid the 
scrutiny of the regulators.." The lawsuit spet."ifi.Cllliy references S&P and P&S as 
examples oflnvesnnent vehicles in which ruch a "front" was used. 

• Based upon a preliminary review of the books and =ords, Mr. ·Sullivan paid himself and 
entities tbrt he comrolled over $8 million in "management fcx:s;" 

• Review of the tax returns filed fur P&S reveal that since inception charillfble 
contributions in excess of $750,000 were disburned to a single entity. 

• Mr. Sullivan maintained other invcstmCDt funds, including SPJ lnv1;:slmems, Ltd., JS&P 
Associates, General Partnernhip, and Guardian Angel Trost, LLC. For some unknown 
xeason, these entities held .niillions of dollars of Partnership assets and filCd separate tu 
returns but the books and records for each of these entities are virtually non-existent. 

• Based on a review of tll8 documents, millions af dollars were never even invested in 
BLMIS, contrary to ML Sullivan'.s obligatioll!l and responsibilities under the Partnership 
Agreements. . 
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• Other individuals were paid "commissions" for the referral of additional partners. These 
commissions appear to have been paid from Partnership assets. 

• Significant documcni:l from 1999 through 20oi and 2004 are missing. 

1n short. many millions ·of dollars of Partnership assets are simply unaccounted for. It is 
important to not.e tbo:I: th.is is ndther im exhaustive list of the potentinl issues with the 
Partnerships, nor have the Partners been gi.ve:n the benefit of full access to the various 
Partnerships' books and records, despite repeated requests. Further invesligalion is certainly 
required. 

To asSi.st in this investigation, many partners have suggested the appointment of Margaret Smith 
as Managing General Partner. Ms. Smilh is a Certified Public Accountant, she is accredited iIJ 
business valuation, 11 Certified Valuation Analyst, a Certified I-'nrud Ex11.miner, a CerLificd 
.Insolvency and Restructuring Advisor and Certified ·in Distressed Business Valuation. In the 
event Ms. Smith. together with the Partnerships' attorneys, dete1JDin~ t1la1 there was indeed no 
malfeasance by Mr. Sullivan or others associated with the Partnendtlps, 1hen no further action 
will .be t:ikc:n. If, however, the con=s above: arc borne out, then !be Managing Gcncx:a! Partner 
will have a responsibility to ensure that appropriate action is taken in order to maxinrlze the 
ass.ets of the Partnerships. This may include seeking tho return of funds improperly disbursed, 
which funds would then be distributed to the Partners, or it may mvolve the filing of a lawsuit to 
recover these assets on behalf of the Part.ocrshlps. Very simply, mllll}' of your fellow Piu1ners do 
nol belie.ve that Mr .. Sullivan is best .situated to perform this investigation .end to determine the 
best course af remedial action. To !hat end, many of the Partoe:rs believe that his removal ~ 
appropriate. · 

To the extent you ha.ve already provided a ~gned proxy, thank you. If you wish to send in your 
proxy at fhisfane, of course you may do so. Please send a copy t>: 

Leonard Samuels 
c/o Berger SingermBil; LLP 
3 50 East Las Oles Boulevard 
Suite 1000 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 

Janet Jordan 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE l 7TH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF J;<LORIDA, 
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY 

P&S ASSOCIATES, GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP, efo., et al., 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

1v1ICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et:al., 

Defendants. 

CASE NO::: U-034123 (07) 

I 

AFFIDAVIT OF MICHAEL SULLIVAN 

STATE OF FLORIDA } 
ss: 

COUNTY OF BROWARD } 

lvfichaelSullivan, bein$ duly sworn depose8 and says: 

1. I was a defendant in this action. f wrui. the founder and managfug partner of the 

plaintiff partnerships, P&S Associates, Generai P~ership ("P&S") and S&P Associates, 

General Partnership ("S&P~') (collectively, the "Partnerships"). I submit this. affidavit in support 

of defendants, Frank Avellino ("Avellino") and :tvfichael Bienes' ("Bienes") Motion for 

Summary Judgment as to Count IV of the Fifth Amended Complaint The allegations set forth 

herein are based upon my personal knowledge. 

2. I have reviewed the affidavit of Steven Jacob, sworn to December 5, 2016, 

submitted !!;! support of the motion, to!.M:her witb. the dqcumeQ,ts attached; it is true and accurate. 

As set forth in Steven J119ob's affidavit, the documents tefleetlng management fees paid' to me 

through Michael D. Sulliyan & Associates; as _well as the payments of a portion of those 
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management fees paid to others, including Frank Avellino. and Michael Biem~s. were clearly 

reflected in the books and records maintained by the. Partnerships. ~ Partnership bonkS and 

records :were available to all partners of the Partnerships at .1:1l(times, and partners, including the 

Festus & Helen Stacy Foundation (the "Foundation"), actually reviewed and inspected the 

PartnersbiP- books and records prior to thi! ex:posure ofMadoff's Ponzi scheme in 200R. 

3. I am aWare that when my deposition was conducted lli this case Oti.:Oecember 17, 

2015, I did not testify that the payments made to Avellino, Bienes and others were in the records 

of the Partnerships. At that time I was not shown any of the records of the payments of the 

Management fees. I have since reviewed the documents attached to Steven Jacob's affidavit and 

. ' 
confirm that they are records maintained b.y the Partnerships that reflect the payment of 

Management fees to pthers, including Avellino and Bienes. I was unclear .about this at my 

deposition because I knew that the majority of the Management fees paid to others . were made 

from my company, Michael D. Sullivan.& Associates, with some previously paid by SUllivan & 

Powell/Soh:rtions in Tax (collectively, "MDS"), after the Management fees were paid to me by 

the Partnerships. However; the Partnerships; records also reflect the payments to others as 

confirmed by the documents attached to Steven jacob's affidavit. 

4. On June · 25, 2014, I entered info a Confidential Settlement Agreement (the 

"Agreement") with Plaintiffs, a redacted copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit" A". By the 

Agreement, I agreed to the entry of a $50,000 judgment againSt me. The Agreement . further 

provided that upon the Conservator filing a satisfaction of the judgment the release provision5 of 

the Agreement became effective. On .March 13, 2-015, Plaintiffs ~ecorded the satisfaction of the 

judgment entered against me, and thus, the release provisions in paragrapl;i 6 of the Agreement 

A4ll.1Dlf!l0444366vl .2 



became effective. A copy of the satisfaction is attached hereto as Exhibit "B';. Accordingly, 

Plaintiffs, including the Conservator and the Partnerships, " ... fully, finally and forever released, 

relinquished, settled and discharged ~ . . all claiins, demands, causes of action ... damages . . . [or] 

liability of any nature whatsoever ... " which they had against n:ie and :MDS, Ex. B, .~6. 

5. l understand that Count IV of the Fifth Amended Complaint purpqrts to assei1 a 

claim for Avoidance of Fraudulent Transfer purstiailt to § 726.IOS(l)(a), Fforida Statiites, and 

seeks to recover from Avellino, Bienes and Steven jacob a portion of my Management fees that I 

paid to them and alleges that I niade such pay.ments to them " ... with actual intent to hinder, 

delay or defraud a creditor of the Partnership." Amended Complaint, , 82. That is completely 

false;:; 1 had no such intent. 

6. . First. pursuant to the partnership agreements of the Partnerships. i was entitled to 

20% of the profits of the Partnerships as a Management fee~ The calculation of the 20% of the 

profits was aecurately determined and reviewed and approved by the Partnerships' outside 

accountant, Mike Kuzy. Upon payment of the Management foes to me that I earned <;ffid to 

which I was entitled I was free to do as 1 wished Witl). such . funds. To. whom I subsequently 

provided a portio1,1 of my Managemenf fees is of no right or interest of Plainfiffs. 

7. At no time when l was sha.'1ng a portion of m:y Management fees with others did I 

hwe any intent t-0 "hinder, delay or defraud u reditor ·of the Partnerships" when making si.ich 

payme1,1ts. I ani not a\vare that the Partnerships, MDS or I had any creditor that could be 

defrauded by, the payment of Management fees to me. While it 1s true that the Partnerships 

invested with Madoff which 'Was revealed to be a Ponzi scheme, Plaintiffs agree · that I had no 

knowledge that Mad.off was operating a Pon,zl scheme. Ex. B, if9. Further, if Plaintiffs contend 
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.. 

that I or MDS were the debtors that were purportedly defrauding a creditor, at the timel .paid a 

portion of my Management fees to others, l do not know who such a creditor could be . . I bad not 

beensued nor been threatened to be sued, and I had no knowledge then, nor do I now, that. there 

was any "creditor of the Partnerships" or of me or MDS that .~ was purportedly defrauding at the 

time I made :such pi:J,yments. 

8. At no time did I disburse all of my .Management fees. I retained the majority of 

the Management fees ana was able to pay my debts as they became due and owing. At the time I 

was sharing .a portion of my Management fees :with others, my assets and those of NIDS 

exceeded the sum of our debts, and neithed nor MDS incurred a substantiaLdebt shortly \}efore 

or after I shared a portion of my Management fees with others;; 

9. The payments to Avellino and Bienes of a portion of my Management fees were 

made by me through l\IDS. Avellino and Bienes had no involvement Whatsoever with MDS. 

They were not general partners of MDS; they are not relatives of any artner of :MDS; they did 

not control MDS. 

10. As set forth in Steve Jacob's affidavit and .as I am confirmjng here, partners of the 

Partnerships had the opportunity to knnw of the payment of my Management fees as well a8 the 

sharing of a portion of my Management fees with others, including Avellino and Bienes, because 

such payments were reflected in the Partnerships books and records that were at all times 

available to the P.artners. Adclitioriaily, prior to the revelation of Madoff's Ponzi scheme in 

December 2008, I had discussions with partners, including Sean and Doug Stepelton of the 

Foundation, about the sharing ofManagement fees, including, specifically, sharing with Avellino 

and Bienes. Again, 
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The Foundation was a partner of the Partnerships who had actual knowledge of the p·~"-"'r.+ of 

Management fe.es to Avellino and Bfones prior to December, 2008. 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF BROW ARD . 1fi 
Sworn to and subscribed before Die thisf-day ·ofDecember, 2016, by Michael 

Sullivan., who is: 

~rsonally kni>wn .to me or who ru.. \\ 
_produced ______ &idenaA_~ 

b.t+h P1 , C1tfl~ 
Printed Notary Ni:une 

My Commission Expii-es;:~~~~~~~!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!l( 
BETiiPIANA · 
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CONFIDENTIALSE'ITLEMENT .AGREEMENT 

This Confidential Settlement Agreement and Release (fhe "A"gfeeincnt") .is niade and 
entered into by and between MICH.A.ELD. SULLIVAN ("Sullivan"") and MICHAEL D. 
SULLIVAN & ASSOCIATES.. INC ("MOS"}, on one hand (eallectively ~. mid 
PmuP VON .KAHLE, AS CONSERVATOR OF P&S ASSOCIATES, GENERAL 
P Alt'I'NERSHIP AND s&P ASSOCIATES, GENERAL P.AR.lNERsHIP ("'Conservator"), .P&S 
ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNERSHIP ("P&S"), and S&P ASSOCIATES, GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP {"S&P"), on 'the other {coUectiVcly "Plaintiffir'). P1ainiiffi; and Dofi:adants ate 
tage!herreferred to as the ~es." 

RECITALS 

A. On ot about December 10. :um .• a civil action wag commenced against Sullivan 
and MDS; among others, relating to payments made by Jt&S and S&P1 in that certain case styled 
P&:S Ass~. General Partnership and S&P .Assadates, General Partnership, Plaintiffe v. 
MiahaelD.&ellivan, et al.. Case No. 12--034123 (07) {the "Action"). 

B. The Parties have agreed 1o fully snd finally resolve all disputes between th~. 
including the claims set forth m the Actiqn, without an admission of liability on 1he part of 
Defendants. 

NOW, nIEREFORB. fhr good and vaiusble consideration as well as 1he mutual 
covenants and agreements desal"bed herein, the receipt and sufiic:iency of which are .hereby 
acknowl~ged. tho Parti~ intending to be legally bonru:li ~Y agree as.follows: 

. 1. Recital~ The furegoing recitations are true and earred and are incorporated 
herein by reference.. · 

2. Prior Disclosures. Prior to ~ into this Agreement,, the Conservatorrei;eived 
and · reVi~ed certain financial statementS and disclosures provided by Sullivan. Tbe 
cOnservatots re.view of those :financial stmemem and disclosures and sutlivmrs represemation 
tl1at such :financial statements and disclosures are true and .~was a material :fuCtor in the 
Conservators. d<:cision to entcdnto this Agreement, and the Conservator justifiably relied on the 
financial statements and disclosures p(O\'ided by :Sullivan prior to entcr:ing:intu this Agreement. 

3T ~· S-qllivan agreei to entry of a consent judgment ~ him in the 
amount o~the "J11dgmenes) within 45 days :&om execution of this .Agreement. The 

· Pl~· agree to furebear from oo1Iectioil activities related to ihe Judgment t1rrongb and until 
April 1, 201:5 (the "Forhe8rance Period"). The Plaintiffs will not record 'fheJndgmmt during tbe 
Forbearance Period. 

4T Satisfaction of Judgment On March 1, .WIS, Sulliv.all will provide a :finaru:ial 
·affidavit setting forth his complete financial condition a5 of that date (ihc .. Affidavit',. The 

· Conservator will review the Affidavit. W'rtmn 30 da.~ frm.n ·the receipt of the Affidavit, the 
Conservator will advise Sullivan iflie wiil seek to QOl!ect on the Judgment after the expiration of 
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the Forbearance :ferlod. If, after reviewing the Affldavit, the Conservator detennines -in ms good 
fuith., reasonable, buSiness judgtntmt. ihBt Sulli"Van does not have the fin~cial abifit3' to pay the 
Judgment! the Conservator will enter a satisfaction ofJuqgment (the "Satisfaction"). 

5. Court Approval. The Parties agree to seek Court approval of the terms of this 
Agreement This Agreement ·is subject to approval by the Court. In the event that this 
Agreement is not approved bythe Court, the Parties shall be returned to the status quo ante prior 
to their entry into this Agreement, and this A~ent shall be deemed null and void. 

6. Release. The "plaintiff Releasonr' under this Agreement shall mean the 
COnServator~ P&S, and S&:;P. The "Defendant Releasees" under this Agreornent shalt mean 
Sulllvan and MDS• including its past and present offieers and directors. Upon the entry of the 
SatisfuctiOn, without further action by anyone, fur good end valuable ooruiideratio11, includ'mg 
that set forth above; the receipt (lf which 'is h~by acknowledged. .Plaintiff Releasors, .on behalf 
of themselves, shall be deent¥d to have, and by operation of law shall have. fully. finally and 
forever rel~ relinquished, settled and discharged as to each and iWecy one of the Defendant 
Releas~ all claims. dernands,: causes of action (whether direct, indirect or otherwise in nature), 
damages whenever mid however .incurred. liability of an.y nature whatsoever {ineluding costs, 
expenses, penalties and attorneys' . fees) 'whether asserted or otherwise, known or unknoWn, 
suspected or unsuspected, accrued or una.coru~ derivative or direct, whether in law, equity or 
oth~~ from the beginning of 1he world · to the date the Agreement is executed. 
Notwilhstandirig the foregoing. this Release Shalt tjot release Defendants• obligations under this 
Agreement. Upon tile entry of the Satisfaction,, without further action by .anyon~ for [Jood and 
vaiuiible consideretion, .including that set furth above; the reeeipt of which is hereby 
acknowledged. Defendants, on behalf ofthcmseiveE, shall be deemed to have, and by operation 
of law shall have. fully, finally and funwer released, relinquished, settled and discharged as to 
eaeh and every one of the Plaintiff Releasors all claim~ demends, causes of action (whether 
direct, indirect or otherwiSG in nature), ~ges whenever and however incnrred, liability Of any 
nature :whatsoev~ (nicluding .co~ expenses, pena!fi~ and atto~' fees) whether asserted or 
otherwi$e, known or unknown, suspeoted or unsuspected, accrued or unaocrned, derivative or 
dirii:ct, whether i1'! law, eqllity or otherwise from the beginning of the world tG the date the 
Agreement iS executed. Notwithsiariding the furegoin~ this Release. shall not release Plaintiffs' 
ohligations under this Agreement 

7. Meeting. Within 3. btlsiness dayi of the execution of this Agreement, am:i as 
requested by Plaintiffs thereafter, Defendants· agree to m~ with Plaintiffs. At these meetings, 
Defendants agree. as they are able~ to cooperate with and assist Plllinti:ffS in Plaintiff's' 
evaluation, advan9etnent, and prosecution of claims and causes of action 1hat Plaintiffs have or 
may ha:ve againSt1he non-Settling defendlttlts fu the Action or which the Conservator may pursue 
in the future on behalf of P&S and S&P. Such asSistanoe and cooperation shall include?. with.out 
limitation. (i) ~ting with Plaintiffs to answer Plaintiffs' questions. if answers are known, and· 
(ii) providing Plaintiffs with any and atl documents relevant to Plaintiffs' questions. During fue 
Parties• meeting on June 25, 2014, the Parties wlll identify dates no later than 30 -days ftorn the 
date. of that meeting whereby Defendants shall provide answers to questions that are transcribed 
under oath. 
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&. Confidentiality, Tue Parties agree that. while they may diselose the fact thatthey 
·have settled. Ibey will keep the te~ and. c0nditlons of ibis Agre~ and all re1ab:d 
negotiations strictly oonfi.dential; provided h~~. that the t'arties shall be. able to .i:nllke 
disclQsttres regarding 1his .Agreement to tlie extetrt that any such disalo11urcs. are required (i) to 
obtain in ca11tera COiirt ·approval o-f this Agreement;· {ii) by a binding c0nrt order or other 
compulsory prooes~. providitlg ftu¢ the diSC\osing Party uses reasonable efforts to notify the 
other. Party of a fomlal request made by any person or entity fur suoh an order or other 
eompulsocy process as soon as practical after the reque.9t has been mad~ and the disclosing Party 
makes an reasonable efforts to ol;ject to. the disclosure. and to quasb any efifuts to have the 
Agreement disclosed. (:tit) in the nonnaI cour~ of bµsiness of one or I!lDre of the Parties to their 
· respeotive insurers, auditors, accoun1:a11t.s, . tax •. tepresezitatives, attorneys. financial advisors • 
. financial instit.otions or lending institUtions; (iv) by any Party to enforce any term or .condition of 
this Agreement; ·or (v} as otherwise required by Jaw. · 

9, Non-Disparagement. Plainiiffs agree that they· do not believe that Sullivan was 
aware that BI.MIS was operating a ponzi.sch1,m1e prior t.o Madoff' s arrest on December l l,.200&~ 
Plaintiffs agree not to represent that Sullivan knew that Bl.MIS was a ponii .scheme prior 1o 
Mad.off's arrest on December l I. 2008. 

10. No Admission, The Parties agree and acknow1edge that nothing contained herein 
shall be deemed an ·admission or conoeS8ion of fuibnity or wrongde>ing or any other form -of 
admission with resp~'to any matter) thing-or tlispute wh$oeve.r. 

11. Miscellaneous. Each indMdUat. executingthiS Agreement below represents and 
warrants that he or she is :fully authorized to (i) ~etute and deliver this Agreement to. the other 
. party 011 behalf of the party for which he or she is signing and [Ii) legally bind 1he party fur 
which he or she is signing.. Each. party to this. Agreement bas consulted With fogal counsel 
regarding the scope and meaning ofihe terms and conditions set forth herein. ·This Agreement 
Sl)all be deemed to ha'Ve been jointly · d.rafu;d by t:qe Parties and no ambiguity .or claimed 
ambiguity shall be resolved against any other party on the basis that such -party drafted the 
lang1lage claimed to. be ambiguous.- This . Agreement may be signed in two or more duplicate 
originals, which; tak6!1. together, shall constitute but one ·agreement and any. fully exeeured 
original of which shall be deemed to be an original The Parties agree tllat .neither h~ assigned, 
pledged, sold or transferred or otherwise conveyed any right claim, or interest that they have or 
may have in any matters rcleasi;:d.herein. · 

12. Goveming La.w. This Agreement shall be intetpremd. and e11forced in accordance 
with the laws of the State of Florida. 

13. Entire AgrOemeiit This Agieement constitUte~ the entire ~emen1 betWeen the 
Parties with respect to the subject n:iatter hereof and supersedes any other agreement or 
understanding of the -Parties with respect to the matters cotitained herein. This Agreement may 
not be changed. altered or modifu:d except in writing sign~ 'by the part.f against whom 
enfurcemcot of such change would b¥ rought. . 



14. Further Assurances. The Parties shall execute such further docunientund do any 
and all such further things as muy be necessary to implemeni and carry out the ·mtent of this 
Agreement. . . . . 

[signaf:u@ page follows] 



P&S ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNERSHIP· S&P ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNER.SHIP 

Nam~:/$1 ~.,,/µ7/e.. 

Its: ~J~ 

Dared: x-~ U, d...e;,1'(· 

~c.-.-.rP&S 
:ASSOCIATES~ GENERAL P'ARTNER.SHIP and 
S&P ASSocrA S, GENERAL PARTNERSHIP 
DATIID; .:t..r ~ 

. . 

~-.~ 
Namee3 .. ;1f V~tt ,.i4{k,.. 

Its!·· ~.I~ 

Dated: ·~c:.. ;..,:r ~1,;1y 

... 

' 



PHILIP J. VON KAHLE, as Conservator of 
·p&s Associates, General Partnership and 
S&P Associates. General Partnership 

Plaintiffs, 
vs.. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et al, 

Defendants. 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR TIIB 
SEVENTEENIB JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUN1Y~ 
FLORIDA . 

Case No. 12-034123 (07) 
Complex Litigation Unit 

SATISFACTION OF FINAL JUDGMENT 
BY CONSENT AGAINST MICHAEL D. SDLLIV AN 

Th.is document is signed by Philip J, von Kahle (the "Conservator")0 as Conservator for P&S 

Associates. General Partnership ('?&S") and S&P Associates., General Partnership ("S&P) 

(together, the ''Partnerships" an9 wlth the Conservator. the •tplainti:ffs•') on March I 0, 2015. 

Plaintiffs acknowledge satisfaction of the judgment signed by the. Judge on Dec.ember 19, 

· · p J. Von Kahle, solely in his capacity as 
as Conservator for P &S Associates,_ General 
Partnership ("P&S'') and S&P Associates, 
General Partnership ("S&P) 
Date: :March 11, 2015 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF BROW ARD 

The foregoing signature was a.Cknowledged Jr.,,fore me this 1[ day of March, 2015, by 
Philip J. von Kahle (the "Cons~rvator"), as Conservator for P&S Associates, General 
Partnership f'P&S';) and S&P Associates, General Parti1er5hip who produced his driver's 
license or as identification. 

~~/,, 
Notary Public 
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IN THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT 
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

COMPLEX LITIGATION UNIT 

CASE NO: 12-034123(07) 

P&S ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNERSHIP, a 
Florida limited partnership; and S&P 
ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNERSHIP, a 
Florida limited partnership; PHILIP 
VON KAHLE as Conservator of P&S 
ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNERSHIP, a 
Florida limited partnership; and S&P 
ASSOCIATES, GENERAL PARTNERSHP, a 
Florida limited partnership, 

Plaintiffs, 
v 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, an individual, 
STEVEN JACOB, an individual, MICHAEL D. 
SULLIVAN & ASSOCIATES, INC., a Florida 
corporation, STEVEN F. JACOB, CPA & 
ASSOCIATES, ·INC. , a Florida 
corporation, FRANK AVELLINO, an 
i ndi vi dual , MICHAEL BIEN ES, an 
individual, KELKO FOUNDATION, INC., a 
Florida non profit corporation, and 
VINCENT T. KELLY, an individual, 

Defendants. 

Deposition of MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN 
(Volume I) 

Tuesday, December 1, 2015 
One Financial Plaza, Suite 2700 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394 
1 0: 16 a. m. - 1 : 25 p. m. 

Reported by: 
Lisa Mudrick, RPR, FPR 
Notary Public, State of Florida 
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11:03:54 25 

Q. Entitled Books and Records on page four. 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, was this amended and restated 

partnership agreement provided to all the partners 

who joined the partnership? 

A. I believe it was. 

Q. Okay. And pursuant to paragraph 7.03 did 

all the partners have the ability to inspect and 

audit the books and records of the partnersh]p? 

MR. SAMUELS: Object to the form of the 

question. 

BY MR. WOODFIELD: 

Q. You can answer. 

A. Any time they wanted to. 

Q. And ultimately, let's say, pick a year, 

2007, do you recall approximately how many 

investors or partners you had in the partnership? 

A. Couple hundred. I can't tell you the 

number. 

47 

Q. Now, at any time did any of those partners 

request to inspect the books and records? 

A. Yes. 

Q. On how many occasions? 

A. Anywhere between five and ten. 

MUDRICK COURT REPORTING, INC. 
561-615-8181 



1 Q. Okay. Do you recall some of the specific 

2 partners who requested to inspect the books and 

3 records? 

4 

11:04:06 5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

11:04 : 16 10 

11 

12 

MR. 'SAMUELS: Objection, timeframe. 

BY MR. WOODFIELD: 

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

You can answer. 

Yes, I do . 

And can you identify any of the ones that 

you recall that requested to inspect the books and 

records of the partnerships? 

MR. SAMUELS: Same objection. 

THE WITNESS: I cannot, do not remember 

13 the names. But there was a group of people in 

14 Boca Raton. If I see a list I could probably 

48 

11:04:28 15 

16 

17 

tell you a couple of them, in partiQular, the 

Festus Stacy, Helen and Festus Stacy, they sent 

their advisor, Patrick Kelly, in with a CPA. 

18 He came and inspected the books and records. I 

19 remember him going to our CPA, Ahearn and 

11:04:49 20 Jasco, having conversations with them. And he 

21 may have come in one or two times to inspect 

22 the books and records. 

23 BY MR. WOODFIELD: 

24 

11:04:56 25 

Q. 

A. 

He being who, this individual? 

Patrick. 

MUDRICK COURT REPORTING, INC. 
561-615-8181 
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11:05:30 15 

16 

17 

18 

19 
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11:05:56 25 

MR. SAMUELS: Same objection as to 

timeframe. 

THE WITNESS: Patrick Kelly, who was the 

financial advisor for the Festus Stacy 

Foundation. 

BY MR. WOODFIELD: 

Q. Do you recall when that inspection took 

place? 

A. I believe it was somewhere in July or 

June, but I don't remember the year. It may have 

been eight, seven, somewhere around there. 

Q. Did it take place in one day or was it 

multiple days? 

A. I believe he made two or three 

appointments to come in our office. I know I was 

not in on one of those dates. And I remember him 

49 

going to the CPA, Mike Kuzy. I don't remember when 

that was. 

Q. Were all of the books and records of P&S 

and S&P made available for that inspection? 

A. All of them. 

Q. Okay. And where were the books and 

records of the partnerships maintained? 

A. 6550 North Federal Highway, Suite 210. 

Q. And what documents did your accountant 

MUDRICK COURT REPORTING, INC. 
561-615-8181 
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11 : 06:3 7 15 
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11 : 06: 50 20 
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23 

24 

11:07: 03 25 

have? 

A. He probably would have just had his 

computer records. He wouldn't have had any 

physical documents unless it was year end. So if 

this was in the middle of the year, he would have 

just had tax returns and things like that on his 

computer. But he'd have no other records. 

50 

Q. Now, you have indicated you thought of the 

approximate months of this inspection but not the 

year. Would this have taken place before the 

public exposure of Madoff --

A. Oh, yeah. 

Q. -- being a Ponzi scheme? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So that would have been sometime before 

December 2008? 

A. Patrick Kelly was looking to make a huge 

investment into this investment we had, so I think 

he kind of came with a dual purpose in mind. 

Q. Was there any report generated to your 

knowledge as a result of that audit or 

investigation or inspection, I am sorry? 

A. No, not that I am aware of. 

Q. Did you have any subsequent conversations 

with anyone on behalf of that foundation concerning 

MUDRICK COURT REPORTING, INC. 
561-615-8181 



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 17TH 
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR 

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 12-034123(07) 

P&S ASSOCIATES, GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP, a Florida limited 
Partnership, et al, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et al., 

Defendants. 

DEPOSITION OF BRETT STACY STEPELTON 
CORPORATE REPRESENTATIVE OF 

FESTUS & HELEN STACY FOUNDATION, INC. 

TAKEN ON BEHALF OF THE DEFENDANT AVELLINO 

DATE TAKEN: Wednesday, March 2, 2016 

TIME: 

PLACE: 

Reported by: 

9:32 a.rn. - 11:14 a.rn. 

Genovese, Joblove & Battista 
200 E Broward Boulevard 
Suite 1110 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 

April Goldberg, FPR 
Notary Public, State of Florida 
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Brett Stepelton - 03/02/2016 

1 investors in S&P made -- requested to review the books 

2 and records of the Foundation prior to December 2008? 

3 A. Excuse me? 

4 Q. Okay. Any· other -- okay, the Foundation, 

5 we 1 ve discussed the Foundation --

6 A. Yeah . 

7 Q. -- didn 1 t request to look at the books and 

8 records. What about your knowledge of whether or not 

9 any other investors in S&P, Scott Holloway, for example, 

10 you mentioned him, are you aware of whether or not any 

11 other investors requested to look at the books and 

12 records? 

13 A. 

14 Q. 

15 A. 

16 Q. 

17 A. 

18 Q. 

19 A. 

20 Q. 

21 A. 

22 Q. 

23 A. 

24 Q. 

25 A. 

No. 

You're not aware? 

No . 

Prior to December of 2008? 

Correct. 

Do you know who Father Kelly is? 

Yes. 

And who is he? 

Catholic priest. 

And do you know him personally or --

No. 

You just know of him? 

Of him, yeah. 

Mudrick Court Reporting, Inc. 
(561) 615-8181 
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P & S ASSOCIATES GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP, etc. et al., 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, et al. 

Defendants. 

JN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 17TII 
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT JN AND FOR 
BROW ARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 12-034123 (07) 

DEFENDANTS FRANK AVELLINO AND MICHAEL BIENES' 
REQUEST TO TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE 

.. . .·.· .. :..·_: : .:. . -.;:·~-- -<: · . 

Defendants, Frank Avellino and Michael Bienes (collectively the "Defendants"), by and 

through their undersigned counsel, pursuant to Sections 90.202 (6), (11) and (12) and 203, 

Florida Statutes, request this Co mt to take judicial notice of the following in support of their 

motion for summary judgment: 

1. On December 11, 2008, the Madoff Ponzi scheme became public. 

The grounds upon which ihls request is based is that the date of such public disclosure is 

not subject to dispute and/or is capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources 

whose accuracy cannot be questioned. See, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Office 

oflnvestigations, Investigation of Failure of the SEC to Uncover Bernard Madoff's Ponzi 

Scheme, Report No. 509at1 (Aug. 31, 2009), https://www.sec.gov/news/studies/2009/oig-

509.pdf; and In re Bernard L. Madoff Inv. Sec., LLC, 424 B.R. 122 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2010), 

aff'd, 654 F.3d 229 (2d. Cir. 2011), reh 'g and reh 'gen bane denied (2d Cir. 2011), cert. denied, 

Sterling Equities Associates v. Picard, 132 S.Ct. 2712 (2012). 

A4.15.00J100329450 vi EXHIBIT 



2. V eri:fied Complaint filed in A.fatthew Carone, et al v. Michael D. Sullivan, Circuit 

Court, Broward Cmmty, Florida, Case No. 12-24051~07, a copy of which is attached. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants request that this Court take judicial notice of the public 

disclosure of the Madoff Ponzi scheme on December 11, 2008 and the complaint attached. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 14th day of April 2015, the foregoing docmnent is 
being served on those on the attached service list by electronic service via the Florida Court E­
Filing Portal in compliance with Fla. Admin Order No. 13-49. 

A435.00l/003294.5()vl 

HAILE, SHAW & PFAFFENBERGER, P.A. 
Attorneys for Defendants 
660 U.S. Highway One, Third Floor 

North Palm Beach, FL 33408 

Phone: (561) 627-8100 

Fax: (561) 622-7603 

gwoodfield@haileshaw.com 

bpetroni@haileshaw.com 

eservices@haileshaw.com 

By: Isl Gary A. Woodfield 

Gary A. Woodfield, Esq. 

Florida Bar No. 563102 

BROAD AND CASSEL 
Attorneys for Michael Bienes 
One Biscayne Tower, 21st Floor 
2 South Biscayne Blvd. 
Miami, FL 3 3131 
Phone (305) 373-9400 
Fax (305) 37309433 
mraymond@broadandcassel.com 
jetra@broadandcasseLcom 
smartin@broadandcassel.com 
ssmith@broadandcassel.com 

By: /s/ Mark Raymond 
Mark Raymond (373397) 
JonathanEtra (686905) 
Shane P. lvfurtin (056306) 
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THOMAS M. MESSANA, ESQ. 
MESSANA, P.A. 

SERVICE LIST 

SUITE 1400, 401 EAST LAS OLAS BOULEVARD 
FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301 
tmessana@messana-law.com 
Attorneys for P & S Associates General Partnership 

LEONARD K. SAMUELS, ESQ. 
ETHAN MARK., ESQ. 
STEVEN D. WEBER, ESQ. 
BERGER SIGNERMAN 
350 EAST LAS OLAS BOULEVARD, STE 1000 
FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301 
emark@bergersingennan.com 
lsamuels@bergersingerman.com 
sweberc@bergersingerman.com 
DRT@bergersingerman.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

PETER G. HERMAN, ESQ. 
TRIPP SCOTT, PA. 
15THFLOOR 
110 SE 6TH STREET 
FORT LAUDERDALE, FL 33301 
pgh@trippscott.com 
ele@trippscott.com 
Attorneys for Defendants Steven F. Jacob 
and Steven F. Jacob CPA & Associates, Inc. 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TlIB 
SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL 
CIRCUIT~ IN AND FOR BROW ARD 
COUNTY, FLORIDA · . ----·· · ·--··-·-------1-2----z--q·-o -5-·1 
CASE NO. 
COMPLEX LITIGATION UNIT 

MATIHEW CARONE, as Trustee for the Carone 
Marital Trust #2 UTD 1/26/00, Carone Gallery, Inc. 
Pension Trust, Carone Family Trust, Carone Marital 
Trust #1 UTD 1/26/00 and Matthew D. Carone 
Revocable Trust, JAMES JORDAN, as Trustee for 
the James A. Jordan Living Trust, ELAINE 
ZIFFER, an individual, and FESTUS Ai~ HELEN 
STACY FOUNDATION, INC., a Florida 
corporation, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, individually, 

Defendant. 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT 
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Plaintiff MATTHEW CARONE, as· Trustee for the Carone Marital Trust #2 UTD 

1/26/00, Carone Gallery, Inc. Pension Trust, Carone Family Trust, Carone Marital Trust #1 UTD 

1/26/00 and MatthewD. Carone Revocable Trust, JAMES JORDAN, as Trustee for the James A. 

Jordan Living Trust, ELAINE ZIFFER, an individual., and FESTUS AND HELEN STACY 

FOUNDATION, INC., a Florida corporation, (collectively "Plaintiffs") by and through their 

undersigned attorneys, bring this action for the benefit of P&S Associates, General Partnership 

("P&S"), S&P Associates, General Partnership ("S&P") and SPJ Investments, Ltd. (''SPJ''), and 

sue Defendant, MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN, an individual, and allege as follows: 

1 



. ····.·!. ··:·:.····.:· 

1. Defendant Michael D. Sullivan ("'Sullivan") diverted millions of dollars from the 

S&P and P&S (the ''Partnerships"). 

overwhelmingly voted to remove Sullivan and are beginning to grasp the breadth of his 

misconduct, Sullivan seeks to prevent the Partnerships from vindicating their rights by 

maintaining a choke-hold on 1he information, assets, books and records of the Partnerships. 

3. This action seeks injunctive relief, or altematlvely, the appointment of a receiver. 

4. The Plaintiffs herein are seeking to eJ1join Michael D. Sullivan ("Sullivan") from 

(i) representing himself as an agent of the Partnerships or acting a.S Managing General Partner; 

(ii) withholding access to the Partnerships' books and records; (iii) accessing the Partnerships' 

assets or interfering with the newly elected Managing General Partner, Margaret J. Smith's 

access to 1hose assets; (iv) misappropriating assets of 1he Partnerships for his own benefit; and 

(~) refusing to acknowledge his removal as Managing General Partner. 

PARTIES AND VENUE 

5. P&S and S&P are general partnerships. As general partnerships, each partner has 

a right to manage the affairs of the Partnerships, including the right to sue in Court, either on 

1heir own behalf or on behalf of the Partnerships. 

6. Plaintiff Matthew Carone brings this action in his capacity as Trustee for the 

Carone Marital Trust #2 UTD 1/26/00, Carone Gallery, Inc. Pension Trust, Carone Family Trust, 

Carone Marital Trust #1 UTD 1/26/00 and Matthew D. Carone Revocable Trust (collectively, the 

"Carone Entities"), each of which is organized and existing under the laws of Florida. Tue 

Carone Entities are general partners of P&S. 

BERGER SINGER.MAN Ec<2, n.-,.. fart ~.-11d•rd4l~ Ml<>mi TOll11'1n.He 
altorneys a.t law 
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7. Plaintiff James Jordan brings this action in his capacity as Trustee for the James 

A. Jordan Living Trust, that is organiz~ and existing under the laws of Florida, and individually. 
i•. 

·- - ----~ - - - - - . ~ ·--·· 
Mr. Jordan is sui Juris and a resident of Broward County, Florida The James A. Jordan Living 

Trust is a general partner of P&S. 

8. Plaintiff Elaine Ziffer is suijuris and a resident of Broward County, Florida. Ms. 

Ziff er is a general partner of P&S. 

9. Plaintiff Festus and Helen Stacy Foundation, Inc. is a Florida corporation, 

organized and existing under the laws of Florida Festus and Helen Stacy Foundation, Inc. is a 

general partner of S&P. 

10. Each of the aforementioned Plaintiffs is a partner and investor in at least one•of 

the two Partnerships for whose benefit this action is being brought, and collectively will be 

referred to herein as the "Plaintiffs." 

11. Defendant Michael D. Sullivan is the former Managing General Partner of the 

Partnerships. The Partnerships voted to remove Sullivan as Managing General Partner on 

August 17, 2012. Margaret J. Smith, a Certified Public Accountant vvitb the advisory firm of 

GlassRatner Advisory and Capital Group, LLC, was elected to replace him. The Partnership 

Agreements were lawfully amended to reflect this change. 

12. Michael D. Sullivan is an individual residing in Broward County and is otherwise 

suijuris. 

13. Venue is proper before tltls Court pursuant to Florida Statute § 47.011 because 

that is where the causes of action accrued, that is where the entities into which fue parties' 

invested reside, and this action arises from events which occurred or were due to occur in 

Broward County, Florida. 

BERGER SINGERMAN 
·altoTneys al law 
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

14. Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Partnership Agreements, P&S and S&P 

were formed for the purpose of engaging in the business of investing. From December 1992 

through December 2008, the Partnerships operated for this singular purpose. 

. 15. Like many Ponzi schemes and investment frauds, 'the roots of the Partnerships 

were grolillded in trust carefully cultivated by Sullivan for years, stemming from bis participation 

in the Church- specifically, Christ Church United Methodist in Fort Lauderdale. The investors 

trusted Sullivan, and most of 'them were fellow parishioners of the Church. Sullivan abused this 

trust to facilitate this scheme. 

16. The Partnerships' funds were supposed to be solely invested with Bernard L. 

Mad.off Investment Securities, LLC (''BLMIS"), and were overseen by the Managing General 

Partners of the Partnerships, Michael D. Sullivan and Greg Powel11 who had responsibility for 

the day-to-day operations of the Partnerships as well as maintenance of the Partnerships' 

property. Moreover, Mr. Sullivan's business associate, Mr. Steve Jacob, has had an unusual 

influence on the S&P partnership. His apparent involvemen1 with JS&P Associates, General 

Partnership and Guardian Angel Trust, LLC are of great concern and despite numerous efforts to 

obtain the records for each they have been denied. 

17. Between December 1992 and December 2008, each of the Plaintiffs invested 

significant funds into 'the Partnerships, which inveS'tments were expected to yield stable, 

consistent returns. 

18. On December 11, 2008, Bernard L. Madoff ("Madoif') was arrested by federal 

agents and BL1v.11S was exposed as a $65 billion Ponzi scheme. At the time of Madoff' s arrest, 

1 Greg Powell is deceased. 

BERGER SINGER.MAN 
attorne)•S al law 
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the assets of the Partnerships which were almost entirely invested in BLMIS were determined to 

be virtually worthless. 

19. Pleadings filed by Irving H. Picard, trustee for the liquidation of BLMIS (the 

"'Mad.off Trustee"), revealed a discrepancy between the funds invested in Partnerships and 1he 

funds invested by Sullivan in BL MIS. 

20. For the better part of two years, the Plaintiffs have been attempting to identify the 

reason for this disCl'!epancy and the diversion of funds. No fully transparent response has been 

obtained; rather, only partial, evasive and shifting answers have been provided. 

21. AB described in more detail below, such attempts to recover funds for the benefit 

of the P.artnersbips can only be taken if Sullivan is immediately enjoined from continuing to 

obstruct the Partnerships' access to its own books, records, assets and property, from continuing 

to hold himself out as a Managing General Partner of the Partnerships, and from continuing to 

direct the affairs of the Partnerships. 

THE INVESTIGATION OF THE PARTNERSHIPS' BOOKS AND RECORDS 

22. After months of exhaustive efforts by the Plaintiffs, Sullivan finally produced 

portions of the books and records of the Partnerships. 

23. Records including, but not limited to, financial statements and general ledgers, 

banking information (including bank statements, cancelled checks, deposit tickets and ·wire 

transfer advices) and correspondence with BLMIS and investors were not _Rroduced for the 

following critical date ranges: 

• Julythrough.December 1999 

• July through December 2000 

• January through. December 2002 

BERGER. SIN GERMAN .soL"' l) ll1Jto1t ftJrr L6u&-ett!olt M i ciani TaTJllbu/i-s(°c 
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• January through June 20042 

24. No usable electronic records were produced, despite multiple requests. 

25. A review of the records produced to date reflects that approximately $8 million of 

·investor funds was disbursed by Sullivan to related entities as "manf}.gement fees ." One such 

related entity is Michael D. Sullivan & Associates, Inc. 

26. Sullivan also used Partnership assets to pay additional "management fees'' and 

"commissions" to co-conspirators. 

27. Analysis of the investor register maintained for S&P reveals that through the 

efforts of Sullivan and his co-conspirators, S&P received approximately $64 million in investor 

funds during the period December 1992 through December 2008 while the records of BLMIS 

show that only $41.7 million ofthis amount was invested in BLMIS.3 

28. Analysis of the banking records of P&S reveals that through the efforts of 

Sullivan and his co-conspirators, approximately $26.9 million investor funds was received by 

P&S during the period December 1992 through December 2008 while the records of BLMIS 

show that only $22.8 million of this amount was invested in BLMIS. 

29. Upon each investment in the Partnerships, Sullivan represented the following 

to investors through written correspondence, "At your direction, these. funds [the full amoun_t.· 

of the funds invested] are being forwarded to the investment broker." BLMlS was the ·sole 

investment broker for both Partnerships. 

:z. A general. ledger for the period January through December' 2004 was produced and analyz.ed. 
3 A final detennination of the aggregate funds invested in S&P is pending receipt and analysis of banking records for 
the following date ranges: 

• July through December 1999 
• July through December 2000 
• January through December 2002 
• January through June 2004 

B .ERGER SINGERMAN . 
altorney s a l law 
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30. A review of the Partnerships' books and records provided to date have led to 

the following additional conclusions: 

(a) Sullivan earmarlfo hundreds of thousands of dollars in "accrued fees" to 

Frank Avellino and Michael Bienes, two individuals who are prohibited by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission from participating in the sale of securities. 

(b) Mr. Avellino was given a significant, and inappropriate, level of control 

over the Partnerships. Indeed, in a lawsuit filed by the Trustee for the Liquidation ofBLMIS, the 

Trustee alleges that despite the prohibition imposed by the SEC, Mr. Avellino and Mr. Bienes 

found people such as Sullivan who were willing to act as "front men to operate partnerships so 

that they could continue to raise and pool money from others to invest with BLMIS but avoid the 

scrutiny of the regulators." The lawsuit specifically references S&P and P&S as examples of 

inves1ment vehicles in which such a "front'' was used. 

(c) Unauthorized charitable contributions m excess of $745,000 were 

disbursed from P&S to Kelco Foundation, Inc. 

(d) Other indiviuuals were paid "commissions" for the referral of additional 

investors. 

31. On December 11, 2008, P&S under Sullivan's direction withdiew $800,000 from 

account #IZA873 maintained -at BLMIS in the name of P&S. The entire amount was deposited 

into account #XXX0387 maintained at BB&T in the name of P&S (the "P&S BB&T Accom;it"). 

32. As of December 31, 2008, the P&S BB&T Account had a balance of $942,304. 

Based on information and belief, the funds in the aforementioned account once frozen by the 

Mado:ff Trustee have been released. The Plaintiffs, along with all investors in the Partnerships 

have been denied an accounting of the account balance since December 2009. 

BERGER .S lNGERMAN 
attorneys. at law 
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33. As of December 31, 3008, account #XXX0379 maintained at BB&T in the name 

of S&P had a balance of $102,401 (the "S&P BB&T Accmmf'). 

34. Based on information and belief, the funds in the S&P BB&T Account once 

frozen by the Mad.off Trustee have been released. The Plaintiffs, along with all investors in the 

Partnerships have been denied an accounting of the account balance since December 2009. 

35. Pursuant to Section 5.01 of the Amended And Restated Partnership Agreements: 

The capital gains, capital losses, dividends, interest, margin 
interest expense, and all other profits and losses attributable to 
the Partnership shall be allocated among the Partners in the ratio· 
each Partner's capital account bears to the aggregate total capital 
contribution of all the partners on an actual daily basis 
commencing on fue date of each partner's admission into the 
Partnership as follows: twenty perce~t (20%) to the Managing 
General Partners and eighty percent (80%) to the partners." 

The profits and losses were not allocated to all partners in this way. A true and correct copy of 

the partnership agreement of S&P Associates, General Partnership is attached hereto as Exhibit 

A. A true and correct copy of.the partnership agreement of P&S Associates, General Partnership 

is attached hereto as Exhibit B. Each Partnership Agreement is identical to the oilier with fue 

exception of the name of the applicable partnership entity. 4 

THE REMOVAL OF MICHAEL D. SULLIVAN 

36. As a result of the review of the books and records of the Partnerships, a 

significant percentage of tl1e partners, including Plaintiffs, determined that Sullivan's removal 

was necessary. 

37. In accordance with the terms of the Amended and Restated Partnership 

Agreements, this group of investors called a special meeting to vote on his removal. A copy of 

the notices of Special Meeting is attached as Composite Exhibit C. 

4 The Plaintiffs have not been provided a copy of the SPJ Investments, Ltd. partnership agreement 
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38. In order to call a Special Meeting, 51 % of the partners in interest, not number, 

must vote in favor of calling the Special Meeting. Such percentage was obtained, and a Special 

·Meeting for each ofP&S and S&P was called. 

39. A number of representatives appeared on behalf of Sullivan; although Sullivan 

himself did not appear, despite the fact that he was given approximately 30 days' notice of the 

meeting date, and never requested that it be moved to accommodate bis schedule. 

40. The Special Meeting occurred on August 17, 2012. At that meeting, more than 

51 % of the voting interest of the Partnerships voted to remove Sullivan as Managing General 

Partners of1he Partnerships. A copy of the si:}readsheet detailing the voting results of the Special 

Meeting is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

41. Sullivan has refused to step down. Fallowing the Special Meeting of each of the 

Partnerships, notice was delivered to counsel for the Partnerships. In that letter, Sullivan was 

advised that he was replaced as Managing General Partner, and that Ms. Smith's designee would 

arrive at the Partnership's offices to take possession of the Partnership's files, computers, records, 

bank account(s) and assets. Sullivan was further advised not to cause or allow anyone else to 

remove any files, records, balances of bank accounts or assets of the Partnership prior to Ms. 

Smith or her designee taJcing possession or control of same. A copy of that notice is attached as 

ExhibitE. 

42. Sullivan is the only Managing General Partner of the Partnerships and he has 

taken the position that he has not been lawfully removed and therefore is not required to tum over 

the Partnerships' assets, books and records. 

43. The Partnerships are expected to receive millions of dollars in settlements in 

connection "\i\iith their allowed claims in the Estate of BLMIS. Specifically, the Madoff Trustee 

3Sil East I.as Ola5 Boulevard Suit<: lOOO Fort Lauderdale., "f'iorlda 333-0t Tele.phone 954·52.5·9900 facsimfle 954·523·2872 
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has allowed the claim of S&P in the amount of $10,131,036, and this initial distribution. of 

$466,230 has been deposited in the Becker & Poliakoff, LLP trust account. Similarly, the 

Madoff Trustee has allowed the claim of P&S in the amount of $2,406,625. With respect to 

P&S, approximately $610,000 is currently residing in ihe Becker & PoliakoffLLP trust account 

44. As a result of the foregoing, Plaintiffs' have an imminent fear of the continued 

dissipation of the Partnerships' assets as long as Sullivan is holding himself out as Managing 

General Partner and is in control of the additional funds received from BLMIS. 

COUNT I 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty~ Injunction to Prohibit Michael D. Sullivan from Interfering 

With the Managing General Partner of S&P 

45. Plaintiffs reincorporate and reallege paragraphs 1 through 44 as fully set forth 

herein. -

46. S&P voted for the removal of Sullivan. Such removal was undertaken in 

compliance vvith the terms of the Partnership Agreements. 

47. As a Managing General Partner, Sullivan owed a fiduciary duty to S&P. 

48. Sullivan's obstruction to S&P's assets, books and records constitutes a breach of 

that duty under Fla. Stat 620.8402, 620.8403 and 620.8404 and common law. 

49. An injunction, temporary and permanent, is required to enjoin Sullivan from 

continuing to block access to the S&P's books and records; enjoin Sullivan from continued 

access to the S&P's bank accounts, and enjoin Sullivan from hoarding all other tangible and 

intangible property of S&P. 

50. S&P has no adequate remedy at law. 

51. The damage and injury caused to S&P is of such a nature that it cannot be 

adequately compensated by monetary damages. 

BERGER SINGERMAN -Il-0<l{Fa1•D Forr L.ru.terd<I< MJ~mr Tol/~baB-oc 
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52. Plaintiffs have no adequate, plain or speedy remedy at law to enjoin Sullivan from 

(i) continuing to represent himself as an agent of S&P, and act as Managing General Partner; 

(ii) continuing to unlawfully access S&P's books and records; (iii) continuing to unlawfully 

access S&P's assets; (iv) continuing to misappropriate assets of S&P for bis own benefit; and (v) 

refusing to acknowledge his removal as Managing General Partner, and absent his removal, S&P 

will continue to suffer irreparable damage and injury. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of S&P, respectfully request that this Court 

temporarily enjoin :Mr. Sullivan, and thereafter make such injunction permanent, from taking the 

actions set out in paragraph 52, above, and such other and further relief as this Court deems just 

and proper. 

COUNT II 
Breach of Fiduciary Duty - Injunction to Prohibit Michael D. Sullivan from Interfering 

With the Managing General Partner of P &S 

5 3. Plaintiffs reincorporate and reallege paragraphs 1 through 44 as fully set forth 

herein. 

54. P&S voted for the removal of Sullivan. Such removal was undertaken in 

compliance with the terms of the Partnership Agreements. 

55. AB a Managing General Partner, Sullivan o-wed a fiduciary duty to P&S. 

56. Sullivan's obstruction to P&S's assets, books and records constitutes a breach of 

that duty under Fla. Stat. 620.8402, 620.8403 and 620.8404 and common law. 

57. An injunction, temporary and permanent, is required to ~njoin Sullivan from 

continuing to block access to the P&S's books. and records; enjoin Sullivan from continued 

access to the ~&S's bank accounts, and enjoin Sullivaff from hoarding all other tangible and 

intangible property of P&S. 
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58. P&S has no adequate remedy at law. 

59. The damage and injury caused to P&S is of such a nature that it cannot be 

adequately compensated by monetary damages. 

60. Plaintiffs have no adequate, plain or speedy remedy at law to enjoin Sullivan from 

(i) continuing to represent himself as an agent of P &S, and act as Managing General Partner; 

(ii) continuing to unlawfully access P&S's books and records; (iii) continuing to unla'Wfully 

access P&S 1 s assets; (iv) continuing to misappropriate assets of P &S for his ovm benefit; and (v) 

refusing to acknowledge his removal as Managing General Partner~ and absent his removal, S&P 

will continue to suffer irreparable damage and injury. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of P &S, respectfully request that this Court 

temporarily enjoin Mr. Sullivan, and thereafter make such injunction permanent, from taking the 

actions set out in paragraph 60, above, and such other and further relief as this Court deems just 

and proper. 

COUNT III 
Appointment of a Receiver of S&P (Alternative to Count I) 

61. Plaintiff reincorporates and realleges paragraphs 1 tlrrough 44 as fully set forth 

herein. 

62. S&P has voted for the removal of Sullivan. Such removal was undertaken in 

compliance with the terms of the Partnership Agreements. 

63. The Plaintiffs seek appointment of a receiver for S&P, in the alternative to the 

injunctive relief sought in Count I. In the event the Court determines that Mr. Sullivan was not 

lawfully removed, the Plaintiffs seek the appointment of a receiver to manage the affairs of the 

S&P, and to be vested with the authority of the Managing General Partner as set out in the S&P 

Partnership Agreement. 

BERGER SINGERJvtAN Dc<}2.<:~ton Farr t..<UdHdulc Ml~ml T•Tl~banco 
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64. As a result of Sullivan's history of misconduct the Partnerships' assets, books and 

records are in imminent danger ofloss, theft, or destruction. 

65. Accordingly, pursuant to applicable law, the Court should immediately appoint a 

receiver to assume control of S&P to oversee the distribution of proceeds to the Partners, 

preserve the S&P's books and records, and undertake such additional action as is necessary for 

the benefit ofS&P. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of S&P, respectfully r~quest that this Court appoint 

a receiver, Margaret J. Smith, to replace Sullivan as managing general partner from the 

Partnerships, and such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT IV 
Appointment of a Receiver of P&S (Alternative to Count II) 

66. Plaintiff reincorporates and realleges paragraphs 1 through 44 as fully set forth 

herein. 

67. P&S has voted for the removal of Sullivan. Such removal was undertaken in 

compliance with the terms of the Partnership Agreements. 

68. The Plaintiffs seek appointment of a receiver for P&S, in the alternative to the 

injunctive relief sought in Count II. In the event the Court determines that Mr. Sullivan was not 

lawfully removed, the Plaintiffs seek the appointment of a receiver to manage the affairs of the 

P&S, and to be vested with the authority of the Managing General Partner as set out in the S&P 

Partnership Agreement. 

69. As a result of Sullivan's history of misconduct, which misconduct bas first come 

to light in recent weeks, the Partnerships' assets, books and records are in imminent danger of 

loss, theft, or destruction. 
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70. Accordingly, pursuant to applicable law, the Court should immediately appoint a 

receiver to assume control of P&S to oversee the distnoution of proceeds to the Partners, 

preserve the P&S's books and records, and undertake such additional action as is necessary for 

the benefit of P &S. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of P&S, respectfully request that this Court appoint 

a receiver, Margaret J. Smith, to replace Sullivan as managing general partner from the 

Partnerships, and such other and further re~ief as this Court deems just and proper. 

PLAINTIFFS DEMAND A JORY ON ALL ISSUES SO TRIABLE. 

By: 

BERGER SINGERMAN LLP 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
350 East Las Olas Blvd, Suite 1000 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 
Telephone: (954) 525-9900 

~~ 
Leonard K. Samuels 
Florida Bar No. 501610 
Etan.Mark 
Florida Bar No. 720852 
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